

Step Up! Tackling the Burden of Insufficient Physical Activity in Europe







Step Up! Tackling the Burden of Insufficient Physical Activity in Europe

This work is published under the responsibility of the Secretary-General of the OECD and the Director-General of the WHO. The opinions expressed and arguments employed herein do not necessarily reflect the official views of the Member countries of the OECD or of WHO.

This document, as well as any data and map included herein, are without prejudice to the status of or sovereignty over any territory, to the delimitation of international frontiers and boundaries and to the name of any territory, city or area.

The names of countries and territories and maps used in this joint publication follow the practice of the OECD.

Specific territorial disclaimers applicable to the OECD and not applicable to WHO

Note by the Republic of Türkiye

The information in this document with reference to "Cyprus" relates to the southern part of the Island. There is no single authority representing both Turkish and Greek Cypriot people on the Island. Türkiye recognises the Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus (TRNC). Until a lasting and equitable solution is found within the context of the United Nations, Türkiye shall preserve its position concerning the "Cyprus issue".

Note by all the European Union Member States of the OECD and the European Union

The Republic of Cyprus is recognised by all members of the United Nations with the exception of Türkiye. The information in this document relates to the area under the effective control of the Government of the Republic of Cyprus.

Please cite this publication as:

OECD/WHO (2023), Step Up! Tackling the Burden of Insufficient Physical Activity in Europe, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/500a9601-en.

ISBN 978-92-64-78810-7 (print) ISBN 978-92-64-41030-5 (pdf) ISBN 978-92-64-92337-9 (HTML) ISBN 978-92-64-57386-4 (epub)

World Health Organization ISBN 978-92-89058-21-6 (pdf)

Photo credits: Cover © PandG/Shutterstock.com.

Corrigenda to publications may be found on line at: www.oecd.org/about/publishing/corrigenda.htm. © OECD/WHO 2023

This Work is licensed under the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial Share Alike 3.0 IGO license (CCBY-NC-SA 3.0 IGO).

Translations – If you create a translation of this work, please add the following disclaimer along with the attribution: This translation was not created by the OECD or the WHO and should not be considered an official OECD or WHO translation. The OECD or the WHO shall not be liable for any content or error in this translation.

Adaptations – If you create an adaptation of this work, please add the following disclaimer along with the attribution: This is an adaptation of an original work by the OECD and the WHO. Views and opinions expressed in the adaptation are the sole responsibility of the author or authors of the adaptation and are not endorsed by the OECD and the WHO.

Foreword

Being physically active is one of the most important things people can do to improve their physical and mental health. It prevents a range of non-communicable diseases, improves cognitive functioning and sleep quality, prevents falls, and reduces symptoms of depression and anxiety. Considering both the impact of the COVID-19 restrictions on physical activity levels and the rising burden of non-communicable diseases and mental health conditions, increasing physical activity is now more important than ever.

Yet, despite the wide range of health benefits, one in three European adults does not meet recommended physical activity levels. According to OECD and WHO/Europe analysis, this will result in 11.5 million new cases of non-communicable diseases by 2050, costing European Union Member States on average 0.6% of their health care budget every year. While this may seem a small amount, it is equivalent to the total health care expenditure of Lithuania and Luxembourg combined. Though policy makers have made significant efforts across the European Union to increase population-level physical activity, more can and needs to be done to step up action on physical activity.

Step up! Tackling the Burden of Insufficient Physical Activity in Europe, jointly produced by the OECD and WHO/Europe, makes the economic case for investing more in physical activity policy. It shows the potential impact that increasing physical activity levels would have on population health and the economy: increasing the life expectancy of people who are insufficiently active by 7.5 months, preventing more than 10 000 premature deaths per year, and saving European Union Member States a total of EUR PPP 8 billion per year.

The report also provides policy options to increase physical activity, drawing on case studies from across the European Union. It highlights the wide range of policy options available, from setting- or target-group specific policies like interventions in schools, workplaces or the health care setting, to policies to increase access to sports facilities or encourage active transport and outdoor activities.

Investing in physical activity policies improves individual well-being and population health, while also returning EUR 1.7 in economic benefits for every EUR 1 invested. Now that the most restrictive COVID-19 measures have been lifted and societies are re-opening, it is time to move towards a more active future.

Acknowledgements

This report is the result of a collaboration between the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe (WHO/Europe). WHO/Europe led on Chapters 1 and 2, which were authored by Viktória Anna Kovács and Stephen Whiting. OECD led on Chapters 3 and 4, which were authored by Sabine Vuik, with input from Alexandra Aldea who led the modelling work. Michele Cecchini oversaw the project for the OECD, and Kremlin Wickramasinghe for WHO/Europe.

Many more people deserve credit for the work presented in this report. The production of this report benefited greatly from the inputs and comments received from other OECD and WHO/Europe colleagues, national experts, member states representatives and other stakeholders.

Within OECD, the authors would like to thank Lucy Hulett for the editorial assistance, and Hannah Whybrow for administrative assistance. Stefano Scarpetta, Mark Pearson and Francesca Colombo provided senior leadership and advice throughout the project. Preliminary versions of the chapters of this report were presented and discussed at a meeting of the OECD Expert Group on the Economics of Public Health (EGEPH), and reviewed by the OECD Health Committee. Country experts and delegates are too many to name individually, but authors would like to thank in particular delegates from Australia, Austria, Ireland, Poland and the United States for their constructive comments throughout the process.

Within WHO/Europe, this project was led by the WHO European Office for the Prevention and Control of Noncommunicable Diseases. The authors would like to thank Joao Breda for his contribution to the conceptualisation of the project, Liza Villas, Anna Chaturvedi and Anastasia Shatokhina for administrative support, Adriana Pinedo for research support, Ding Ding and Romeu Mendes for technical advice, and Nino Berdzuli for senior leadership and guidance.

WHO/Europe would also like to express their gratitude to the European Commission Directorate-General for Education, Youth, Sport and Culture for their support. This document was produced with the financial assistance of the European Union. The views expressed herein can in no way be taken to reflect the official opinion of the European Union.

Table of contents

Foreword	3
Acknowledgements	4
Acronyms and abbreviations	8
Executive summary	9
1 Why physical activity? Physical activity has a wide range of benefits for physical and mental health Adults should do at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week A variety of policies and plans on physical activity have been adopted in recent years References Annex 1.A. WHO Guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour	10 12 14 17 19 21
 2 Physical activity in Europe: Trends and patterns More than one in three European adults does not do enough physical activity Only four in ten adults exercise regularly, with low rates in women, the elderly and lower socio-economic groups Few adolescents meet WHO recommended physical activity levels Insufficient physical activity is driven by economic development, urbanisation, environmental and occupational factors Physical activity decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic References 	24 25 28 31 33 34 36
 3 The burden of insufficient physical activity Quantifying the burden of insufficient physical activity makes a strong case for investing in prevention The burden of insufficient physical activity on population health The burden of insufficient physical activity on health care expenditure References Annex 3.A. Linking physical activity to BMI in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model Annex 3.B. The burden of insufficient physical activity without the link with BMI Notes 	 39 42 46 52 55 57 59 63
4 Policy options to increase physical activity Increasing physical activity levels can have considerable health and economic benefits Policy makers can choose from a range of options to increase physical activity levels	64 65 67

6 |

A comprehensive, well-funded package of policies is needed to get people moving	77
References	79
Glossary	83

FIGURES

Figure 1.1. Countries with national policies, strategies or action plans on physical activity in 2019	18
Figure 2.1. Prevalence of insufficient physical activity	26
Figure 2.2. Physical activity in the European Union	27
Figure 2.3. Physical activity trends in adults	29
Figure 2.4 Physical activity by age and sex	30
Figure 2.5. Sport or exercise in adults by socio-economic group	31
Figure 2.6. Physical activity trends in adolescents	32
Figure 2.7. Physical activity in children and adolescents by socio-economic group	33
Figure 2.8. Changes in physical activity due to COVID-19	35
Figure 2.9. Theoretical patterns of change in physical activity level due to the COVID-19 pandemic	36
Figure 3.1. Schematic overview of the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model	44
Figure 3.2. Annual premature deaths due to insufficient physical activity	46
Figure 3.3. Premature mortality rate due to insufficient physical activity	47
Figure 3.4. The impact of insufficient physical activity on life expectancy in the insufficiently active population	48
Figure 3.5. The impact of insufficient physical activity on population average life expectancy	50
Figure 3.6. The burden of disease due to insufficient physical activity	51
Figure 3.7. The burden of disease due to insufficient physical activity by age group	52
Figure 3.8. Health care expenditure due to insufficient physical activity	53
Figure 3.9. Health care expenditure per capita due to insufficient physical activity	54
Figure 3.10. Health care expenditure attributable to insufficient physical activity	55
Figure 4.1. Previous estimates of the economic burden of insufficient physical activity	66
Figure 4.2. Policy options to increase physical activity	68
Figure 4.3. Physical activity policies in EU Member States	69

60
61
62
63

INFOGRAPHICS

Infographic 1.1. The health benefits of physical activity	11
Infographic 1.2. Physical activity recommendations for children under the age of 5 years	15
Infographic 1.3. Physical activity recommendations for children and adolescents 5-17 years of age	16
Infographic 1.4. Physical activity recommendations for adults 18-64 years of age	16
Infographic 1.5. Physical activity recommendations for adults 65 years and older	17
Infographic 3.1. The population health and economic benefits of physical activity	41

TABLES

Annex Table 3.A.1. Levels of physical activity in the Body Weight Planner and the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model 58

Follow OECD Publications on:



Acronyms and abbreviations

BMI	Body mass index
COSI	WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative
DALYs	Disability adjusted life years
EU	European Union
EU27	The 27 European Union Member States
GPAQ	Global Physical Activity Questionnaire
HEPA	Health-enhancing physical activity, any form of physical activity that benefits health and functional capacity without undue harm or risk
LPA	Light-intensity physical activity, between 1.5 and less than 3 METs. This includes slow walking, bathing, or other incidental activities that do not result in a substantial increase in heart rate or breathing rate.
MET	Metabolic equivalent of task, a measure to reflect the intensity of physical activities, and allows comparison between them. One MET is the energy equivalent expended per unit of time by an individual while seated at rest. More intense activities, which cost more energy expenditure than being seated at rest, are attributed higher METs.
MET-minutes	A tool for tracking physical activity, calculated by the intensity of activity (in MET) multiplied by the duration of activity (in minutes)
MPA	Moderate-intensity physical activity, between 3 and less than 6 METs. This includes activities such as gardening, dancing or brisk walking.
NCDs	Non-communicable diseases
PA/BMI link	The OECD SPHeP-NCDs model includes a link between physical activity (PA) and BMI, to capture the effects of physical activity on weight
PAF	Population attributable fraction
PAP	Physical activity on prescription
PE	Physical education
PPP	Purchasing power parities are the rates of currency conversion that try to equalise the purchasing power of different currencies, by eliminating the differences in price levels between countries.
SPHeP-NCDs	Strategic Public Health Planning for Non-Communicable Diseases model
VPA	Vigorous-intensity physical activity, 6 or more METs. This includes activities such as fast swimming or running

Executive summary

Regular physical activity is one of the most important things people can do to improve their physical and mental health and well-being. It helps prevent a range of non-communicable diseases and improves mental health and cognitive functioning, among other benefits.

Nevertheless, the prevalence of insufficient physical activity remains high in the European Union.

- More than one in three adults do not meet the WHO physical activity guidelines, and almost half (45%) report that they never exercise or play sport.
- Less than one in five boys and one in ten girls meet the WHO recommended level of physical activity for adolescents.
- Women and older people are less likely to do regular sports or exercise, as well as people from lower socio-economic groups: only 24% of people who consider themselves working class exercises at least once a week, versus 51% of people who consider themselves upper class.
- The COVID-19 pandemic has worsened the situation, with many people reporting a decrease in physical activity due to restrictions and confinement.

More can be done to increase physical activity levels. Despite many countries having stepped up their efforts to promote physical activity, there remain gaps in the policy response.

Increasing population levels of physical activity can have multiple benefits. First, it would have a considerable impact on population health and health care expenditure. Second, policies to improve physical activity levels can support the COVID-19 recovery by creating a healthier, more resilient population, improving mental health and social connection, and supporting the sports and exercise industry. Furthermore, these policies can have positive impacts on the environment, by promoting active transport, reducing emissions, and increasing green space.

If everyone were to meet the WHO recommended level of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, this could:

- Prevent more than 10 000 premature (people aged 30 to 70 years) deaths per year similar to the number of deaths due to COVID-19 in that same age group in France and Germany combined in 2020.
- Increase life expectancy of people who are insufficiently active by 7.5 months, and of the total population by nearly 2 months.
- Save European Union Member States 0.6% of their health care budget on average, a total of nearly EUR PPP 8 billion per year – more than the total annual health care expenditure of Lithuania and Luxembourg combined.

A wide range of policy options exist to increase population physical activity, all of which improve population health, reduce health care expenditure, and have a positive impact on workforce size and productivity. However, as physical activity is a complex behaviour, a comprehensive package of policies is needed to target all its drivers at the same time. Investing in such a comprehensive package of physical activity policies is a good investment, delivering larger returns than implementing single policies in isolation.

1 Why physical activity?

Regular physical activity has a wide range of health and well-being benefits. This chapter provides an overview of these benefits. It also outlines the frequency, intensity, type and duration of physical activity that is recommended for different population groups. Finally, it describes the current policy measures that are in place in the European Union to encourage physical activity in the population.

Key messages

- Regular physical activity is one of the most important things people can do to improve their physical and mental health and well-being, regardless of age, sex or ethnicity.
- Insufficient physical activity is a leading risk factor for non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, type 2 diabetes, cancers, and has a negative effect on mental health and quality of life.
- A low amount of physical activity, a low level of fitness and sedentariness although interlinked – all independently increase the risk of many chronic diseases.
- In 2020, the World Health Organization launched new physical activity guidelines, which recommend that adults should do at least 150 to 300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, or 75 to 150 minutes of vigorous intensity physical activity.
- There are growing policy making efforts across the European Union aimed to increase population-level physical activity.

Infographic 1.1. The health benefits of physical activity



Physical activity has significant health benefits for bodies and minds

Mental Health

Reduces symptoms of depression and anxiety

Disease Prevention

Prevents and manages chronic diseases such as cardiovascular diseases, cancer and diabetes

Fitness

Improves muscular and cardiorespiratory fitness

Functional Strength

Physical activity has a wide range of benefits for physical and mental health

Regular physical activity is one of the most important things people can do to improve their physical and mental health and well-being. Moving more and sitting less have benefits for everyone, regardless of age, sex, race, ethnicity or current fitness level. Considering both the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the increasing burden of non-communicable diseases and mental health conditions, physical activity is now more important than ever.

Currently, the world is experiencing an extraordinary, life-altering challenge due to the COVID-19 pandemic. But while the pandemic is having devastating human and economic consequences, it should not make people lose sight of the impact of major risk factors on the burden of chronic diseases, which also bear an increasing toll on mortality. Comparing COVID-19 related deaths to other common causes of death during the first wave in seven of the most affected European countries shows that, while mortality from COVID-19 was high particularly in elderly people, it was outweighed by deaths from cancer as well as cardiovascular diseases in Italy, Germany, France, Portugal and the Netherlands (Olabi et al., 2021[1]). In Spain the proportion of deaths due to COVID-19 was similar to that due to cancer. Moreover, the COVID-19 mortality rate is now declining further as treatments improve and vaccination coverage increases.

Life expectancy now reaches 81 years in the European Union (EU) (OECD/European Union, 2020_[2]; World Bank, 2019_[3]). However, many years of life in old age are lived with chronic diseases and disabilities. The main cause of death is still non-communicable diseases (NCDs) across Europe. In the EU Member States cardiovascular diseases (over 1 700 000 deaths in 2017) and cancers (1 200 000 deaths) together account for over 60% of all deaths. Nearly 40% of people aged 65 years and over have at least two chronic conditions, although this does not necessarily impede them from leading a normal life. About 30% of people aged 65 years and over have at least one limitation in activities of daily living that may require some long-term care assistance (OECD/European Union, 2020_[2]).

Good mental health is vital for people to be able to lead healthy and productive lives. In 2018, one in nine adults (11%) on average across EU Member States had symptoms of psychological distress (OECD/European Union, 2020_[2]). Currently, the situation maybe even worse as the COVID-19 crisis is also having a negative impact on mental well-being, especially amongst young people and people with lower socio-economic status (Aknin et al., 2021_[4]). Moreover, the population in the EU is older than the global population, suggesting that it might be particularly vulnerable to an increasing burden of age-related neurological disorders, such as stroke or Alzheimer disease, which ranked third after cardiovascular diseases and cancers – representing 13.3% of total disability adjusted life years (DALYs) and 19.5% of total deaths (Deuschl et al., 2020_[5]).

Fortunately, the majority of the most common chronic diseases and mental disorders are favourably influenced by regular physical activity. Even a single session of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity can reduce blood pressure, improve insulin sensitivity, improve sleep, reduce anxiety symptoms, and improve some aspects of cognition (including attention and memory) on the day that it is performed (Department of Health and Human Services, 2018_[6]). Most of these improvements become even larger with the regular performance of physical activity. Other benefits, such as disease risk reduction and improved physical function, occur within days to weeks after consistently being more physically active.

Evidence shows that regular physical activity reduces all-cause mortality, as well as the risk of coronary heart disease, high blood pressure, stroke, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, some types of cancers, depression, anxiety, neuro-degenerative diseases and falls. Other benefits include increased cardiorespiratory and muscular fitness (Box 1.1), enhanced immune system, healthier body mass and composition, improved bone health, increased functional health, improved cognitive function and better sleep (Lee et al., 2012_[7]).

Box 1.1. Physical activity, fitness and sedentary behaviour

There are three independent risk factors that are linked to someone's activity habits and lifestyle. These are a low amount of physical activity, a low level of cardiovascular fitness (CVF) and sedentary behaviour. Although these factors are interlinked, they all independently increase the risk of chronic diseases.

Even if, at first, insufficient physical activity and sedentary behaviour sound very similar, they are conceptually different (van der Ploeg and Hillsdon, 2017_[8]). Insufficient physical activity occurs when individuals are not meeting the requirements of current physical activity guidelines. In contrast, sedentary behaviour is any behaviour during waking hours characterised by a low energy expenditure while sitting, reclining or lying. Sedentary behaviour includes most desk-based office work, driving a car, TV-watching and playing inactive video games and it is often estimated by sitting time or screen time (WHO, 2020_[9]; SBRN Terminology Consensus Project Participants, 2017_[10]). Research on the health effects of sedentary behaviour is a relatively new area, but the potential population health impact of sedentariness is substantial (Biddle et al., 2016_[11]).

CVF is a direct marker of physiologic status and reflects the overall capacity of the cardiovascular and respiratory systems, and the ability to carry out prolonged physical exercise. Recent data suggest that CVF has an important role in reducing not only cardiovascular and all-cause mortality, but also incident myocardial infarction, hypertension, diabetes, atrial fibrillation, heart failure, and stroke (Al-Mallah, Sakr and Al-Qunaibet, 2018[12]). Most recently, its role in cancer prevention has started to emerge. Moreover, high CVF during childhood and adolescence has been associated with a healthier cardiovascular profile during these years, as well as later in life (Ruiz et al., 2007[13]). The prognostic value of CVF has been demonstrated in various patient populations and in different cardiovascular conditions.

Physical inactivity, sedentary behaviour and low levels of fitness are all modifiable risk factors. Therefore, every individual should be encouraged to be physically active while limiting their time in sedentary activities to achieve optimal health benefits.

Physical activity is important for everyone at every stage of life. Just a few of the benefits for different population groups are (Department of Health and Human Services, 2018[6]):

- Healthy growth and development, improved bone health and weight status for children ages 3 through 5 years.
- Improved cognitive function, cardiorespiratory and muscle fitness, bone health and maintenance of healthy weight status for youth ages 6 to 13 years.
- Brain health benefits, including possible improved cognitive function, reduced anxiety, depression and cognitive impairment risk, and improved sleep and quality of life across the lifespan.
- For pregnant women, reduced risk of excessive weight gain, gestational diabetes, and postpartum depression.
- For older adults, reduced risk of fall-related injuries, preserving physical function and mobility, and delaying the onset of major disability.

Current evidence suggests that many of the health benefits of a physically active lifestyle during adolescents carry forward into adulthood (Department of Health and Human Services, 2018_[6]). Individuals who remain active throughout childhood and adolescence significantly reduce the risk of developing obesity in young adulthood (Kwon et al., 2015_[14]). Physical activity also functions as a protective mechanism for depressive symptoms across all ages (Department of Health and Human Services, 2018_[6]).

The positive health outcomes resulting from physical activity demonstrate that it is a "best buy" in the prevention and management of NCDs, improving daily functioning, mental health and well-being (van der Ploeg and Bull, 2020_[15]). Europe's demographic changes (ageing workforce and population) and the ongoing and after effects from the COVID-19 pandemic are highlighting the urgency for all countries in the WHO European Region to increase investment in policy, research and community-based programs to promote and ensure physical activity opportunities for everyone.

Adults should do at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week

Physical activity goes beyond sports and exercise, and is defined as any bodily movement resulting in an increase in energy expenditure. Physical activity is evaluated by applying the FITT principles: F = frequency, I = intensity, T = time and T = type. Frequency denotes how often a person is physically active, intensity measures how vigorous the physical activity is; and time is the total duration of the activity. The type of physical activity refers to whether the activity is aerobic or anaerobic (e.g. cycling or sprinting), or can be categorised into three domains (i.e. leisure-time, transportation, work/household-related activities) (Rhodes et al., 2017_[16]). Fundamentally, being physically active can be done in many ways: walking, cycling, sports and active forms of recreation (i.e. dance, yoga, swimming), activities at work, household and domestic duties. All forms of physical activity provide health benefits. However, when physical activity is practiced regularly, with sufficient duration and intensity, the benefits are greater (Rhodes et al., 2017_[16]).

In 2020, WHO released new guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour (Box 1.2). The guidelines recommend at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity; or at least 75-150 minutes of vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity throughout the week for adults (including elderly, pregnant women and those with chronic medical conditions and/or disability all without contradictions) to achieve the above-mentioned benefits. For children and adolescents (5-17 years) the guidelines call for more activity.

Box 1.2. WHO Guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour

To help reduce the detrimental effects of insufficient physical activity on health, all individuals are encouraged to become active. In addition to the physical activity recommendations below (Infographics 1.2 to 1.5), it is recommended for all individuals to limit the amount of time spent being sedentary. The guidelines also provide specific recommendations for individuals with chronic medical conditions and/or disability, and pregnant and postpartum women (see 0 for more detailed guidelines).







A variety of policies and plans on physical activity have been adopted in recent years

The majority of physical activity policy documents launched before 2010 dealt either with health-related behaviours in general or with nutrition and physical activity combined (Gelius et al., 2021_[18]). Due to increasingly conclusive evidence regarding physical activity as a significant health determinant, there are growing policy making efforts aimed specifically to increase population-level physical activity, both at national and at international level.

In 2013, ministers of health and representatives of the Member States of WHO European Region adopted the *Vienna Declaration on Nutrition and NCDs in the context of Health 2020*. The declaration called for the

development of an independent strategy to promote physical activity in the WHO European Region (WHO, 2013^[19]). Since then WHO Europe and the European Commission have released regional strategies to promote and support policies to tackle physical inactivity and sedentary behaviours. Many members of the WHO European Region have established national physical activity policies in recent years to address the problem of physical inactivity (Figure 1.1). However, there remain challenges and opportunities to develop and improve the design and implementation of these policies, before the current physical inactivity trends and negative effects are reversed (WHO, 2021^[20]).





Source: WHO (2019_[21]), NCD Country Capacity Survey, https://www.who.int/teams/ncds/surveillance/monitoring-capacity/ncdccs.

Also in 2013, Member States in the EU have adopted policies in line with the EU Council Recommendation on promoting health-enhancing physical activity (HEPA) across sectors (Council of the European Union, 2013_[22]). The EU council recommendations include 23 indicators to measure progress on physical activity. The following year the Commission established a network of physical activity focal points to monitor the implementation of HEPA policies in the Member States, based on the EU Physical Activity Guidelines and the EU Council Recommendation (Whiting et al., 2021_[23]). This was reinforced by the WHO Physical Activity Strategy for the WHO European Region 2016-25, which provided a blueprint to incentivise Member States to act (WHO, 2016_[24]; Breda et al., 2018_[25]). The European Commission in partnership with WHO Europe has published EU Member States factsheets on physical activity, which also provide an indication of the policy gaps that require more action at the national level (WHO, 2018_[26]).

The WHO's Global Action Plan on Physical Activity (GAPPA) 2018-30 was launched in 2018. The aim is to assist countries in developing policy actions to promote physical activity and to reduce physical inactivity by 10% by 2025, and 15% by 2030. This plan provides an evidence-based framework with four strategic objectives (active societies, active environment, active people and active systems) and 20 recommended policy actions and interventions (WHO, 2018_[27]). Countries are encouraged to implement the GAPPA recommendations together with the ACTIVE technical package. This comprises a set of specific policy actions for governments at the national, sub-national and local level to promote physical activity throughout life and through multiple settings.

Finally, the two-year campaign HealthyLifestyle4All (HL4A) (EC, 2021_[28]), which is a follow-up of the Tartu Call for a Healthy Lifestyle, was launched in September 2021 to showcase the European Commission's continuous commitment to promoting a healthy lifestyle across generations and social groups.

References

Aknin, L. et al. (2021), "Mental Health During the First Year of the COVID-19 Pandemic: A Review and Recommendations for Moving Forward", <i>In press at Perspectives on</i> <i>Psychological Science</i> , <u>https://doi.org/10.31234/OSF.IO/ZW93G</u> .	[4]
Al-Mallah, M., S. Sakr and A. Al-Qunaibet (2018), "Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Cardiovascular Disease Prevention: an Update", <i>Current Atherosclerosis Reports</i> , Vol. 20/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11883-018-0711-4</u> .	[12]
Biddle, S. et al. (2016), "Too much sitting and all-cause mortality: is there a causal link?", <i>BMC Public Health</i> , Vol. 16/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-016-3307-3</u> .	[11]
Breda, J. et al. (2018), "Promoting health-enhancing physical activity in Europe: Current state of surveillance, policy development and implementation", <i>Health Policy</i> , Vol. 122/5, pp. 519-527, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2018.01.015 .	[25]
Council of the European Union (2013), "Council Recommendation of 26 November 2013 on promoting health-enhancing physical activity across sectors".	[22]
Department of Health and Human Services (2018), 2018 Physical Activity Guidelines Advisory Committee Scientific Report.	[6]
Deuschl, G. et al. (2020), "The burden of neurological diseases in Europe: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017", <i>The Lancet Public Health</i> , Vol. 5/10, pp. e551-e567, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s2468-2667(20)30190-0</u> .	[5]
EC (2021), The HealthyLifestyle4All Initiative, https://sport.ec.europa.eu/initiatives/healthylifestyle4all (accessed on 20 October 2021).	[28]
Gelius, P. et al. (2021), "Policy Instruments for Health Promotion: A Comparison of WHO Policy Guidance for Tobacco, Alcohol, Nutrition and Physical Activity", <i>International Journal of</i> <i>Health Policy and Management</i> , <u>https://doi.org/10.34172/ijhpm.2021.95</u> .	[18]
Kwon, S. et al. (2015), "Active lifestyle in childhood and adolescence prevents obesity development in young adulthood", <i>Obesity</i> , Vol. 23/12, pp. 2462-2469, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/oby.21262</u> .	[14]
Lee, I. et al. (2012), "Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy", <i>The Lancet</i> , Vol. 380/9838, pp. 219-229, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61031-9</u> .	[7]
OECD/European Union (2020), <i>Health at a Glance: Europe 2020: State of Health in the EU Cycle</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/82129230-en</u> .	[2]
Olabi, B. et al. (2021), "Population perspective comparing COVID-19 to all and common causes of death during the first wave of the pandemic in seven European countries", <i>Public Health in</i> <i>Practice</i> , Vol. 2, p. 100077, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.puhip.2021.100077</u> .	[1]
Rhodes, R. et al. (2017), "Physical activity: Health impact, prevalence, correlates and interventions", <i>Psychology & Health</i> , Vol. 32/8, pp. 942-975, https://doi.org/10.1080/08870446.2017.1325486.	[16]

Ruiz, J. et al. (2007), "High Cardiovascular Fitness Is Associated with Low Metabolic Risk Score in Children: The European Youth Heart Study", <i>Pediatric Research</i> , Vol. 61/3, pp. 350-355, <u>https://doi.org/10.1203/pdr.0b013e318030d1bd</u> .	[13]
SBRN Terminology Consensus Project Participants (2017), "Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN) – Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome", International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, Vol. 14/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0525-8</u> .	[10]
van der Ploeg, H. and F. Bull (2020), "Invest in physical activity to protect and promote health: the 2020 WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour", <i>International Journal</i> <i>of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity 2020 17:1</i> , Vol. 17/1, pp. 1-4, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S12966-020-01051-1</u> .	[15]
van der Ploeg, H. and M. Hillsdon (2017), "Is sedentary behaviour just physical inactivity by another name?", <i>International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity</i> , Vol. 14/1, https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-017-0601-0 .	[8]
Whiting, S. et al. (2021), "Promoting health-enhancing physical activity in Europe: Surveillance, policy development and implementation 2015–2018", <i>Health Policy</i> , Vol. 125/8, pp. 1023-1030, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2021.05.011</u> .	[23]
WHO (2021), 2021 physical activity factsheets for the European Union Member States in the WHO European Region, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345335</u> .	[20]
WHO (2020), WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour, World Health Organization, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336656</u> .	[9]
WHO (2019), <i>Guidelines on physical activity, sedentary behaviour and sleep for children under 5 years of age</i> , World Health Organization, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/311664</u> .	[17]
WHO (2019), <i>NCD Country Capacity Survey</i> , <u>https://www.who.int/teams/ncds/surveillance/monitoring-capacity/ncdccs</u> (accessed on 27 October 2021).	[21]
WHO (2018), European Health Information Gateway - Health-enhancing physical activity, https://gateway.euro.who.int/en/datasets/hepa/ (accessed on 20 October 2021).	[26]
WHO (2018), Global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030, World Health Organization, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272722.	[27]
WHO (2016), <i>Physical activity strategy for the WHO European Region 2016–2025</i> , World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/329407</u> .	[24]
WHO (2013), Vienna Declaration on Nutrition and Noncommunicable Diseases in the Context of Health 2020, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/350439</u> .	[19]
World Bank (2019), Life expectancy at birth, total (years),	[3]

20 |

https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/SP.DYN.LE00.IN (accessed on 20 October 2021).

Annex 1.A. WHO Guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour

Infants under 1 year of age

Infants under 1 year of age should be physically active several times a day in a variety of ways, particularly through interactive floor-based play; more is better. For those not yet mobile, this includes at least 30 minutes in prone position (tummy time) spread throughout the day while awake. They should not be restrained for more than 1 hour at a time (e.g. prams/ strollers, high chairs, or strapped on a caregiver's back). Screen time is not recommended. When sedentary, engaging in reading and storytelling with a caregiver is encouraged. They should have 14-17 hours (0-3 months of age) or 12-16 hours (4-11 months of age) of good quality sleep, including naps (WHO, 2019[17]).

Children 1 and 2 years of age

Children 1 and 2 years of age should spend at least 180 minutes in a variety of types of physical activities at any intensity, including moderate to vigorous-intensity physical activity, spread throughout the day; more is better. They should not be restrained for more than 1 hour at a time (e.g. prams/ strollers) or sit for extended periods of time. Sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour a day; less is better. When sedentary, engaging in reading and storytelling with a caregiver is encouraged. For 1-year-olds, sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour a day; less is better. When sedentary, engaging in reading and storytelling with a caregiver is encouraged. For 1-year-olds, sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour a day; less is better. When sedentary, engaging in reading and storytelling with a caregiver is encouraged. For those aged 2 years, sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour a day; less is better. When sedentary, engaging in reading and storytelling with a caregiver is encouraged. They should have 11-14 hours of good quality sleep, including naps, with regular sleep and wake-up times (WHO, 2019[17]).

Children 3 and 4 years of age

Children 3 and 4 years of age should spend at least 180 minutes in a variety of types of physical activities at any intensity, of which at least 60 minutes is moderate- to vigorous intensity physical activity, spread throughout the day; more is better. They should not be restrained for more than 1 hour at a time (e.g. prams/ strollers) or sit for extended periods of time. Sedentary screen time should be no more than 1 hour a day; less is better. When sedentary, engaging in reading and storytelling with a caregiver is encouraged. They should have 10-13 hours of good quality sleep, which may include a nap, with regular sleep and wake-up times (WHO, 2019_[17]).

Children and adolescents 5-17 years of age

Children and adolescents should do at least an average of 60 minutes per day of moderate- to vigorousintensity, mostly aerobic, physical activity, across the week. Vigorous-intensity aerobic activities, as well as those that strengthen muscle and bone, should be incorporated at least 3 days a week. Children and adolescents should limit the amount of time spent being sedentary, particularly the amount of recreational screen time (WHO, 2020[9]).

Adults 18-64 years of age

All adults should undertake regular physical activity. Adults should do at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity; or at least 75-150 minutes of vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity throughout the week, for substantial health benefits. Adults should also do muscle strengthening activities at moderate or greater intensity that involve all major muscle groups on 2 or more days a week, as these provide additional health benefits. Adults should limit the amount of time spent being sedentary. Replacing sedentary time with physical activity of any intensity (including light intensity) provides health benefits. To help reduce the detrimental effects of high levels of sedentary behaviour on health, adults should aim to do more than the recommended levels of moderate- to vigorous-intensity physical activity (WHO, 2020[9]).

Adults 65 years and older

All older adults should undertake regular physical activity. Older adults should do at least 150– 300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity; or at least 75-150 minutes of vigorous intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity during the week, for major health benefits. For additional health benefits older adults should do muscle strengthening activities at moderate or greater intensity that involve all major muscle groups on two or more days a week. They may also increase moderate intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous on two or more days a week. They may also increase moderate intensity aerobic physical activity to more than 300 minutes; or do more than 150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous intensity activity, during the week. As part of their weekly physical activity, to enhance functional capacity and to prevent falls, older adults should do varied multicomponent physical activity that emphasises functional balance and strength training at moderate or greater intensity, on 3 or more days a week. Older adults should also limit the amount of time spent being sedentary (WHO, 2020[9]).

Pregnant and postpartum women

It is recommended that all pregnant and postpartum women without contraindication should engage in regular physical activity throughout pregnancy and postpartum. Women should do at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity aerobic physical activity during the week for major health benefits. For additional health benefits include a variety of aerobic and muscle strengthening activities and gentle stretching. In addition, women who before pregnancy engaged regularly in vigorous intensity aerobic activity, or who were physically active, can continue these activities during pregnancy and the postpartum period. Pregnant and postpartum women should limit the amount of time spent being sedentary (WHO, 2020[9]).

Adults and older adults with chronic conditions (aged 18 years and older)

Adults and older adults with chronic conditions (cancer, hypertension, type 2 diabetes and HIV) should do at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity; or at least 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous intensity activity throughout the week, for substantial health benefits. For additional health benefits, they should also do muscle-strengthening activities at moderate or greater intensity that involve all major muscle groups on 2 or more days a week. To enhance functional capacity and to prevent falls, they should do varied multicomponent physical activity that emphasises functional balance and strength training at moderate or greater intensity, on 3 or more days a week.

When not contraindicated, adults and older adults with these chronic conditions may increase moderate intensity aerobic physical activity to more than 300 minutes; or do more than 150 minutes of vigorous-

intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous intensity activity throughout the week for additional health benefits (WHO, 2020[9]).

Children and adolescents (aged 5-17 years) living with disability

This age group living with disability should do at least an average of 60 minutes per day of moderate- to vigorous intensity, mostly aerobic, physical activity, during the week, including at least 3 sessions per week of vigorous-intensity aerobic activities, as well as those that strengthen muscle and bone (WHO, 2020^[9]).

Adults (aged 18 years and older) living with disability

Adults living with disability should do at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity; or at least 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity, during the week, for major health benefits. For additional health benefits, adults living with disability should also do muscle-strengthening activities at moderate or greater intensity that involve all major muscle groups, on 2 or more days a week. They may increase moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity to more than 300 minutes; or do more than 150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity; or an equivalent combination of moderate- and vigorous-intensity activity throughout the week. To enhance functional capacity and to prevent falls, older adults should do varied multicomponent physical activity that emphasises functional balance and strength training at moderate or greater intensity, on 3 or more days a week (WHO, 2020[9]).

2 Physical activity in Europe: Trends and patterns

Despite the health and well-being benefits of physical activity, many people in the European Union do not move enough. This chapter provides an overview of physical activity levels in Europe, and explores patterns and trends, such as differences across age, gender and socio-economic groups. It also looks at the impact that the COVID-19 pandemic has had on physical activity.

Key messages

- The prevalence of insufficient physical activity was already high before the COVID-19 pandemic: more than one in three adults did not meet the WHO physical activity guidelines, and almost half (45%) reported that they never exercise or play sport.
- Physical inactivity is also prevalent in adolescents, with less than one in five (17.6%) boys and one in ten (9.6%) girls across 27 EU Member States reporting to meet their WHO recommendation in 2018.
- Women and older people are less likely to do regular sports or exercise: among 15 to 24-year-olds, 73% of men participate at least weekly in sports or exercise, compared to 58% of women.
- People from lower socio-economic groups are less likely to exercise regularly (only 24% of people who consider themselves working class exercises regularly, versus 51% of upper-class people), but occupational physical activity is less common in higher socio-economic groups.
- Drivers of physical inactivity include urbanisation and economic development, environments that prioritise motorised travel, and a decrease in occupational and household physical activity.
- The COVID-19 pandemic further worsened the situation, with more than half of adults reporting a reduction in their frequency of physical activity.

More than one in three European adults does not do enough physical activity

Despite the well-established benefits of leading a physically active lifestyle and the broader public health impact of reducing chronic disease risk and premature mortality, too many adults and children are insufficiently physically active across Europe. While different measurement approaches result in different estimates of the prevalence of insufficient physical activity (Box 2.1), most confirm that it is common.

The WHO combines and adjusts data on insufficient physical activity from different sources, to provide global estimates of the prevalence of insufficient physical activity. Based on this data, more than one in three (35.4%) adults in the 27 EU Member States were insufficiently active in 2016 (Figure 2.1). Insufficient physical activity was particularly prevalent in some Southern-European countries, while less frequent in Nordic countries.

This corresponds with the results of a large-scale study from 2012, which used the Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ), and found that around one in three (34.8%) of European adults (aged 15 years or older) are insufficiently active (defined as less than 600 MET-minutes of physical activity per week, the WHO minimum recommendation) (Hallal et al., 2012[1]). Also using the same GPAQ questionnaire, the national prevalence of insufficient physical activity (less than 600 MET-minutes of physical activity per week) was estimated to range from 10.1% to 43.6% in nine Eastern European and Central Asian countries (Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kyrgyzstan, Republic of Moldova, Tajikistan, Türkiye and Uzbekistan) between 2013 and 2017 (Whiting et al., 2021[2]).

Figure 2.1. Prevalence of insufficient physical activity

Prevalence of insufficient physical activity (less than 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, or equivalent) among adults aged 18+ years, crude estimate (%), 2016



Source: WHO (2021_[3]), Prevalence of insufficient physical activity among adults aged 18+ years (crude estimate) (%), https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/prevalence-of-insufficient-physical-activity-among-adults-aged-18-years-(crude-estimate)-(-).

Box 2.1. Measuring physical activity in Europe

To establish accurate prevalence data and to monitor changes and trends in physical activity, valid, reliable and regular measures are required (Van Hecke et al., 2016_[4]). Physical activity can be measured either objectively or subjectively. Traditionally, physical activity is assessed by means of self-reported questionnaires. Across Europe, different questionnaires are used.

Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ)

The GPAQ was developed by WHO for physical activity surveillance in countries. It collects information on physical activity participation in three domains as well as on sedentary behaviour, using 16 questions. The domains are: (1) activity at work, (2) travel to and from places, and (3) recreational activities (WHO, n.d._[5]). The GPAQ is also part of the WHO STEPwise approach to NCD risk factor surveillance (STEPS) survey, often used in Eastern European and Central Asian countries (WHO, n.d._[6]).

Eurobarometer questionnaire

The Special Eurobarometer survey on sport and physical activity has been conducted in the EU Member States since 2002 (European Commission, 2022_[7]). The Eurobarometer questionnaire comprises six items that ask about physical activity via the number of days of vigorous activity, moderate activity (excluding walking), and walking for at least 10 minutes in the last 7 days and the respective daily duration in order to assess the levels of physical activity according to the WHO's recommendations. It also asks about the frequency of exercising or playing sports, and of other physical activity such as cycling or gardening.

Single-item measure (SIM)

The SIM uses a past-week recall period asking about the number of days with at least 30 minutes of physical activity with an intensity that raises the breathing rate, including sport, exercise, walking, and cycling for recreation, but excluding household and work-related physical activity (Milton, Bull and Bauman, 2010[8]).

The choice of the measuring instrument largely affects survey outputs, and using the Eurobarometer questionnaire can result in more favourable PA prevalence data compared to using other instruments (Stassen et al., $2021_{[9]}$). For example, estimating the prevalence of achieving the recommended physical activity levels by a single-item measure or by the Eurobarometer questionnaire led to almost a three times difference within the same sample (SIM 31.3% vs. Eurobarometer 87.5%).

At national level, data on physical activity are provided by national surveys that differ in the applied methodology and definitions of "physically active". Therefore, between-countries comparison is difficult. Most of these national surveys are based on questionnaires, but in some cases more objective assessment methods (e.g. pedometers or accelerometers) are also being used. Data on physical activity levels from national sources is available in the **HEPA country factsheets** which are regularly published on the WHO website (WHO, 2021_[10]).

Data from the latest Eurobarometer survey reported that, in 2022, four in ten (38%) adults in the EU exercise or play sport at least once a week, including 6% who do so at least five times per week (Figure 2.2) (European Commission, 2022_[7]). Almost half of the respondents (45%) claimed that they never exercise or play sport. In addition, half of respondents (50%) reported to do other physical activities, such as cycling, dancing or gardening, at least once a week, while 31% never do this kind of activity at all.

Figure 2.2. Physical activity in the European Union

Proportion of adults who reported doing sport and exercise, or other physical activity, regularly, with some regularity, seldom and never, weighted average for EU27, 2022



Note: Questions asked were: "How often do you exercise or play sport?" and "How often do you engage in other physical activity such as cycling from one place to another, dancing, gardening, etc.?"; regularly: at least 5 times a week; with some regularity: at least once a week; seldom: less than once a week. Source: European Commission, (2022[7]), Special Eurobarometer SP525: Sport and physical activity, https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2668.

Only four in ten adults exercise regularly, with low rates in women, the elderly and lower socio-economic groups

On average, four in ten adults in the EU exercise regularly, but there is considerable variation across countries. While in Finland more than two-thirds of adults does sport or exercise weekly, in other countries this is one in five (Figure 2.3). Nordic countries also see higher rates of participation in other forms of physical activity, like cycling or gardening. Generally, countries with high participation in sport and exercise also see high participation in other forms of physical activity, which have below average levels of sport and exercise but higher participation in other forms of physical activity, while in Ireland the opposite is true.

While participation in sports and exercise changed little between 2017 and 2022 on average in the EU, weekly participation in other forms of physical activity increased – with the EU average going from 44% to 53% (Figure 2.3). Some countries saw considerable increases in the amount of physical activity practiced by adults. In the Czech Republic, the percentage of people practicing sports weekly increased by 12 percentage points while other physical activity increased by 25 percentage points. In Austria, Lithuania, Slovenia, Slovak Republic, Luxembourg and Finland participation in other forms of physical activity also increased considerably. Portugal on the other hand saw participation in both forms of physical activity decrease, while participation in sports and exercise decreased notably in Poland, Hungary, Belgium, Germany, Denmark and Sweden.

Figure 2.3. Physical activity trends in adults

Proportion of adults who reported doing sport and exercise, or other physical activity, at least once a week, in 2017 and 2022



Note: Questions asked were: "How often do you exercise or play sport?" and "How often do you engage in other physical activity such as cycling from one place to another, dancing, gardening, etc.?"; EU27 average is not weighted. Source: European Commission, (2022_[7]), Special Eurobarometer SP525: Sport and physical activity, <u>https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2668</u>.

Physical activity becomes less frequent with age, as only one in four adults in the EU above the age of 55 years participates in sport or exercise at least once a week (Figure 2.4). Across all age groups, fewer women than men participate in sport and exercise. Especially in the youngest age group of 15 to 24-year-olds, the difference between sexes is large: 73% of men participate at least weekly in sport or exercise, compared to 58% of women. While for other forms of physical activity the difference between age groups and sexes is less pronounced, young men remain the most active.

Figure 2.4 Physical activity by age and sex

Proportion of adults who reported doing sport and exercise, or other physical activity, at least once a week, weighted average for EU27, 2022



Note: Questions asked were: "How often do you exercise or play sport?" and "How often do you engage in other physical activity such as cycling from one place to another, dancing, gardening, etc.?"

Source: European Commission, (2022[7]), Special Eurobarometer SP525: Sport and physical activity, https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2668.

Looking at Eurobarometer data for EU Member States, there is a clear socio-economic gradient. Adults who almost never have difficulty paying bills engage in sport and exercise more frequently than adults who often have difficulties paying (Figure 2.5). Similarly, only 24% of people who consider themselves working class exercise at least once a week, versus 51% of people who consider themselves upper class. However, the pattern is different when considering other types of physical activity. People with a high socio-economic status tend to be more physically active during leisure-time compared to those with low socio-economic position, while occupational physical activity is more prevalent among the lower socio-economic groups (Beenackers et al., 2012_[11]; Stalsberg and Pedersen, 2018_[12]).

Figure 2.5. Sport or exercise in adults by socio-economic group

Proportion of adults who reported doing sport and exercise regularly, with some regularity, seldom and never, by socio-economic group, weighted average for EU27, 2022



Note: Questions asked were: "How often do you exercise or play sport?"; regularly: at least 5 times a week; with some regularity: at least once a week; seldom: less than once a week.

Source: European Commission, (2022[7]), Special Eurobarometer SP525: Sport and physical activity, https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2668.

Few adolescents meet WHO recommended physical activity levels

Low physical activity is also common among adolescents, particularly among girls: across 26 EU Member States only 17.6% of boys and 9.6% of girls reported meeting the WHO recommendation of at least one hour of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily in 2018 (Figure 2.6). Italy, France and Portugal report some of the lowest levels of physical activity among adolescents, while it is relatively high in the Slovak Republic, Slovenia, the Netherlands and Bulgaria. In Spain, boys do better compared to the EU average than girls, and vice versa in Estonia and Lithuania.

Between 2014 and 2018 there was a decrease in physical activity levels for boys: the proportion of boys engaging in at least one hour of moderate to vigorous physical activity per day decreased from 20.3% to 17.6% (Figure 2.6). The largest change was in Luxembourg (from 26% to 17%) and Poland (25% to 18%). While there was no large change for girls, their level of physical activity was already much lower – at 9.6% in 2018. In some countries physical activity in girls decreased (both Malta and Romania saw a 4 percentage point decrease), while in others it increased (most notably in Austria and Slovenia, where there was a 5 and 4 percentage point increase, respectively).

Figure 2.6. Physical activity trends in adolescents

Proportion of 15-year-olds who report at least one hour of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily, in 2014 and 2018



Note: * unweighted average of Wallonia and Flanders.

Source: WHO (2020[13]), Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332104.

As in adults, physical activity rates in children and adolescents decline with age: while on average 24% of children aged 11 reported at least one hour of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily, this decreased to 19% at age 13, and 15% at age 15 (WHO, $2020_{[13]}$). Younger children are even more active: a recently published study that involved more than 150 000 children aged 6-9 years from 25 European countries using data from the WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI) in 2015-17 found that 79% were actively playing for more than one hour each day, 46% were members of a sport or dancing club, 50% walked or cycled to school each day, 60% engaged in screen time for less than two hours per day, and 85% slept for 9-11 per night as recommended (Whiting et al., $2020_{[14]}$).

In many countries there is a socio-economic gradient, where higher affluence is associated with higher levels of physical activity in adolescents (Figure 2.7) (WHO, 2020_[13]). This gradient is larger for boys than for girls in most countries, and on average in 26 EU Member States, the proportion of boys from highly affluent families who meet the physical activity guidelines is 8 percentage points higher than boys from

less affluent families. Physical activity among girls from affluent families is on average 6 percentage points higher than among girls from less affluent families.

However, the socio-economic gradient for adolescents needs to be interpreted with caution. A systematic review on social patterning of physical activity in adolescents found that while on a whole the results showed that adolescents with higher socio-economic status are more physically active than those with lower socio-economic status, the findings were far from uniform across studies, and a large number found no or the opposite effect (Stalsberg and Pedersen, 2010[15]).

Figure 2.7. Physical activity in children and adolescents by socio-economic group

Percentage point difference in prevalence of reporting at least one hour of moderate to vigorous physical activity daily between low and high family affluence groups, for children and adolescents aged 11, 13, and 15, in 2018



Note: * unweighted average of Wallonia and Flanders; a value of 5 means that the proportion of children from affluent families who are physically active (e.g. 25%) is 5 percentage points higher than the proportion of children from low affluence families (e.g. 20%). Source: WHO (2020[13]), Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332104.

Insufficient physical activity is driven by economic development, urbanisation, environmental and occupational factors

Similar to obesity, insufficient physical activity is related to rapid economic development (Kohl et al., 2012^[16]). This is particularly evident and of concern in low- and middle-income countries, where occupational, domestic, and transport-related physical activities contribute more to overall energy expenditure than leisure time or recreational activities. Increasing urbanisation and rapid economic development have been linked to reductions in domestic and occupational physical activity in adults, as well as increased television viewing in children (Kohl et al., 2012^[16]; Ng and Popkin, 2012^[17]; Dearth-Wesley, Popkin and Ng, 2014^[18]).

Evidence is mounting to suggest a causal relationship between the built environment and people's physical activity behaviours, particularly active transport (e.g. biking, walking). People living in more "walkable" environments that are safe and attractive are more prone to active transport and have higher levels of physical activity (Mackett and Brown, 2011_[19]). Opting for a compact urbanisation that prioritises the needs of pedestrians is much better for promoting physical activity than environments that prioritise motor vehicles. Choosing active transportation is not only a personal decision. How cities are designed and the efficiency of their transport network are key in favouring or hampering active transport, and thereby, the levels of physical activity.

Currently, occupational physical activity is still the largest contributor of adults' weekly physical activity (Ng and Popkin, $2012_{[17]}$). However, different types of jobs result in different degrees of activity, and some occupations such as office jobs are associated with a significant amount of sitting time. These types of jobs have increased considerably over the last decades: while in the early 1960s almost half of private industry occupations in the United States required at least moderate intensity physical activity, now less than one in five demand this level of activity (Church et al., $2011_{[20]}$). It is estimated that in France less than one in four men (22.9%) and less than one in eight women (11.9%) occupied moderate or vigorous intensity jobs in 2009 (Graf and Cecchini, $2019_{[21]}$).

It is important to note that some evidence suggests that work-related physical activity may not have the same mental health benefits as leisure-time physical activity. One systematic review found that while leisure-time physical activity and transport physical activity both had a positive association with good mental health, work-related physical activity was negatively associated with mental health (White et al., 2017_[22]). However, another European study found that doing any level of physical activity in any domain was associated with a lower prevalence of moderate, moderate-severe, and severe depressive symptoms (Cocker et al., 2021_[23]).

Physical activity decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic

In March 2020, the world started experiencing an extraordinary change due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Governments in Europe responded to the COVID-19 outbreak with various measures intended to slow down the transmission of the virus. These nation-wide restrictions, particularly the closure of schools, parks, playgrounds and recreational facilities, reduced the possibilities for maintaining an active and healthy lifestyle. On average physical activity levels appear to have dropped, despite some people increasing their physical activity.

One systematic review conducted mid-2020 found that, of 26 studies (which include studies from Italy, Spain, Croatia, Germany and Greece) that measured the change in the amount of time spent being physically active by adults, all but one reported overall decreases in physical activity level pre- versus post-COVID-19 lockdown (Stockwell et al., 2021_[24]). A multinational survey across 14 countries (including 7 EU Member States: Austria, France, Germany, Italy, the Netherlands, Switzerland, and Spain) found that self-reported moderate to vigorous activity as well as vigorous activity in adults declined, by 41% and 42% respectively, during COVID-19 restrictions (Wilke et al., 2021_[25]). While the study found no major differences between men and women, young and old participants saw greater decreases in physical activity than middle-aged people.

While there are signs that in some cases lockdown actually encouraged exercise and the development of new routines, this does not appear to make up for the overall loss in physical activity. A large number of studies show that while some people increased their physical activity during lockdown, a larger proportion saw a decrease in their activity levels (Stockwell et al., 2021_[24]). Similarly, the Eurobarometer study found that while 9% of respondents increased their physical activity level, more than half reduced their physical activity – with 34% being active less frequently and 18% stopped being active completely (European Commission, 2022_[7]).
Figure 2.8. Changes in physical activity due to COVID-19



Reported change in the frequency of physical activity during the COVID-19 pandemic, percentage of respondents

Note: Base for 100% reflects all respondents that selected one of the four statements (stopped, less frequent, same, more frequent). Source: European Commission, (2022[7]), Special Eurobarometer SP525: Sport and physical activity, <u>https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2668</u>.

For children and adolescents, results are not straightforward. While some studies reported a decline in physical activity (Paterson et al., 2021_[26]), others found that the amount of physical activity did not change (Kovacs et al., 2021_[27]). However, many studies that looked at the type of physical activity agreed that the characteristics of sport and exercise changed and shifted towards less intensive activities such as walking and cycling. This may explain the drop in cardiorespiratory fitness documented in some countries since the outbreak of the pandemic (Jurak et al., 2021_[28]; Jarnig, Jaunig and van Poppel, 2021_[29]). In addition, studies consistently reported increases in screen time and sedentary behaviour – also linked to the use of remote and online learning.

One thing that we do not know currently is what lasting effects the pandemic will have on behaviour patterns once life returns to normal. Theoretically, three scenarios are possible (Figure 2.9):

- people get back to their pre-COVID-19 physical activity level,
- people become more physically active as they need to get back to normal or, even, they are willing to get engaged in as much activity as possible, or,
- people become less physically active as they have incorporated a less active standard in their daily routine.

In the Eurobarometer study, only 7% of respondents report plans to be more physically active after the COVID-19 pandemic ends (European Commission, 2022_[7]). Urgent actions are needed to counteract this problem and to ensure that the low levels of physical activity caused by the COVID-19 pandemic and related restrictions do not become the new normal.



Figure 2.9. Theoretical patterns of change in physical activity level due to the COVID-19 pandemic

References

- Beenackers, M. et al. (2012), "Socioeconomic inequalities in occupational, leisure-time, and transport related physical activity among European adults: A systematic review", *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, Vol. 9/1, p. 116, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-9-116</u>.
- Church, T. et al. (2011), "Trends over 5 Decades in U.S. Occupation-Related Physical Activity and Their Associations with Obesity", *PLoS ONE*, Vol. 6/5, <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0019657</u>.
- Cocker, K. et al. (2021), "Is all activity equal? Associations between different domains of physical activity and depressive symptom severity among 261,121 European adults", *Depression and Anxiety*, Vol. 38/9, pp. 950-960, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/DA.23157</u>.
- Dearth-Wesley, T., B. Popkin and S. Ng (2014), "Estimated and forecasted trends in domain [18] specific time-use and energy expenditure among adults in Russia", *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, Vol. 11/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1479-5868-11-11</u>.
- European Commission (2022), *Special Eurobarometer SP525 : Sport and physical activity*, [7] <u>https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2668</u> (accessed on 23 September 2022).
- Graf, S. and M. Cecchini (2019), "Current and past trends in physical activity in four OECD ^[21] countries: Empirical results from time use surveys in Canada, France, Germany and the United States", *OECD Health Working Papers*, No. 112, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/22cad404-en</u>.
- Hallal, P. et al. (2012), "Global physical activity levels: surveillance progress, pitfalls, and prospects", *The Lancet*, Vol. 380/9838, pp. 247-257, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60646-1</u>.

Jarnig, G., J. Jaunig and M. van Poppel (2021), "Association of COVID-19 Mitigation Measures With Changes in Cardiorespiratory Fitness and Body Mass Index Among Children Aged 7 to 10 Years in Austria", <i>JAMA Network Open</i> , Vol. 4/8, p. e2121675, <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.21675</u> .	[29]
Jurak, G. et al. (2021), "A COVID-19 Crisis in Child Physical Fitness: Creating a Barometric Tool of Public Health Engagement for the Republic of Slovenia", <i>Frontiers in Public Health</i> , Vol. 9, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2021.644235</u> .	[28]
Kohl, H. et al. (2012), "The pandemic of physical inactivity: global action for public health", <i>The Lancet</i> , Vol. 380/9838, pp. 294-305, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60898-8</u> .	[16]
Kovacs, V. et al. (2021), "Physical activity, screen time and the COVID-19 school closures in Europe – An observational study in 10 countries", <i>European Journal of Sport Science</i> , pp. 1- 10, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17461391.2021.1897166</u> .	[27]
Mackett, R. and B. Brown (2011), <i>Transport, Physical Activity and Health: Present knowledge</i> and the way ahead, UCL, http://www.cege.ucl.ac.uk/research/projects?sq_content_src=%2BdXJsPWh0dHAIM0EIMkYI MkZ3d3cyLmNIZ2UudWNsLmFjLnVrJTJGcmVzZWFyY2glMkZSZXNQcm9qRGV0LmFzcCU zRkIEJTNEMTc0JmFsbD0x (accessed on 25 October 2021).	[19]
Milton, K., F. Bull and A. Bauman (2010), "Reliability and validity testing of a single-item physical activity measure", <i>British Journal of Sports Medicine</i> , Vol. 45/3, pp. 203-208, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsm.2009.068395</u> .	[8]
Ng, S. and B. Popkin (2012), "Time use and physical activity: a shift away from movement across the globe", <i>Obesity Reviews</i> , Vol. 13/8, pp. 659-680, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-789x.2011.00982.x</u> .	[17]
Paterson, D. et al. (2021), "Exploring the impact of COVID-19 on the movement behaviors of children and youth: A scoping review of evidence after the first year", <i>Journal of Sport and Health Science</i> , <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2021.07.001</u> .	[26]
Stalsberg, R. and A. Pedersen (2018), "Are Differences in Physical Activity across Socioeconomic Groups Associated with Choice of Physical Activity Variables to Report?", <i>International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health</i> , Vol. 15/5, p. 922, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph15050922</u> .	[12]
Stalsberg, R. and A. Pedersen (2010), "Effects of socioeconomic status on the physical activity in adolescents: a systematic review of the evidence", <i>Scandinavian Journal of Medicine &</i> <i>Science in Sports</i> , Vol. 20/3, pp. 368-383, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.01047.x</u> .	[15]
Stassen, G. et al. (2021), "Questionnaire choice affects the prevalence of recommended physical activity: an online survey comparing four measuring instruments within the same sample", <i>BMC Public Health</i> , Vol. 21/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-10113-9</u> .	[9]
Stockwell, S. et al. (2021), Changes in physical activity and sedentary behaviours from before to during the COVID-19 pandemic lockdown: A systematic review, BMJ Publishing Group,	[24]

https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjsem-2020-000960.

Van Hecke, L. et al. (2016), "Variation in population levels of physical activity in European children and adolescents according to cross-European studies: a systematic literature review within DEDIPAC", <i>International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity</i> , Vol. 13/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12966-016-0396-4</u> .	[4]
White, R. et al. (2017), "Domain-Specific Physical Activity and Mental Health: A Meta-analysis", <i>American Journal of Preventive Medicine</i> , Vol. 52/5, pp. 653-666, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2016.12.008</u> .	[22]
Whiting, S. et al. (2020), "Physical Activity, Screen Time, and Sleep Duration of Children Aged 6–9 Years in 25 Countries: An Analysis within the WHO European Childhood Obesity Surveillance Initiative (COSI) 2015–2017", <i>Obesity Facts</i> , pp. 1-13, <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000511263</u> .	[14]
Whiting, S. et al. (2021), "Physical inactivity in nine European and Central Asian countries: an analysis of national population-based survey results", <i>European Journal of Public Health</i> , Vol. 31/4, pp. 846-853, <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/eurpub/ckab028</u> .	[2]
WHO (2021), 2021 physical activity factsheets for the European Union Member States in the WHO European Region, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345335</u> .	[10]
WHO (2021), Prevalence of insufficient physical activity among adults aged 18+ years (crude estimate) (%), https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicator-details/GHO/prevalence-of-insufficient-physical-activity-among-adults-aged-18-years-(crude-estimate)-(-) (accessed on 1 February 2021).	[3]
WHO (2020), Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. International report. Volume 2. Key data., World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332104</u> .	[13]
WHO (n.d.), <i>Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) Analysis Guide</i> , <u>http://www.who.int/chp/steps/GPAQ/en/index.html</u> (accessed on 29 January 2021).	[5]
WHO (n.d.), STEPwise Approach to NCD Risk Factor Surveillance (STEPS), https://www.who.int/teams/noncommunicable-diseases/surveillance/systems-tools/steps (accessed on 22 October 2021).	[6]
Wilke, J. et al. (2021), "A Pandemic within the Pandemic? Physical Activity Levels Substantially Decreased in Countries Affected by COVID-19", <i>International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health</i> 2021, Vol. 18, Page 2235, Vol. 18/5, p. 2235	[25]

Research and Public Health 2021, Vol. 18, Page 2235, Vol. 18/5, p. 2235, <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/IJERPH18052235</u>.

38 |

3 The burden of insufficient physical activity

Increasing physical activity levels in the population can have a considerable impact on population health and on health care expenditures. This chapter quantifies the burden of current physical activity levels, and shows the potential impact of meeting recommended activity levels. It looks at life expectancy, incidence of non-communicable diseases, per capita and total health care expenditure, among other metrics. Two scenarios are modelled: meeting the minimum recommended physical activity level of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity activity per week, as well as meeting the higher level of 300 minutes per week.

Key messages

- Policies to increase physical activity levels can have a considerable impact on population health: if everyone were to meet the minimum guidelines of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, this would prevent more than 10 000 premature deaths per year across 27 EU Member States.
- Moreover, the life expectancy in people who are insufficiently active would increase by 7.5 months, increasing the average life expectancy for the total population by nearly 2 months.
- Increasing physical activity levels to 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week would prevent 11.5 million new cases of NCDs by 2050, including 3.8 million cases of cardiovascular disease, 3.5 million cases of depression, nearly 1 million cases of type 2 diabetes and more than 400 000 cases of cancer.
- Policies to increase physical activity levels would also have a positive impact on health care expenditure, saving EU Member States nearly EUR PPP 8 billion per year, or 0.6% of their total health care budget on average.
- Meeting the higher guidelines of 300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week would result in 2-3 times higher impacts on the population level: increasing the life expectancy of physically inactive people by nearly 16 months; preventing 30 000 premature deaths per year and 27 million new cases of NCDs over 30 years; and reducing health care expenditure by EUR PPP 17 billion per year.

Infographic 3.1. The population health and economic benefits of physical activity

The Population Health and Economic Benefits of Physical Activity

Meeting the WHO guidelines of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week across 27 European countries would:



Increase the life expectancy of people who are insufficiently active by 7.5 months



Increase average life expectancy by 2 months



Prevent over **10 000** premature deaths per year



Save EUR PPP 14 per capita in healthcare expenditure – a total of EUR PPP 8 billion per year



Reduce total health expenditure by 0.6%



Avoid **11.5 million** cases of **non-communicable diseases** over the next three decades, including:



3.5 million cases of depression



3.8 million cases of cardiovascular disease





Quantifying the burden of insufficient physical activity makes a strong case for investing in prevention

Insufficient physical activity and related non-communicable diseases increase the burden on health systems. In this chapter, the Strategic Public Health Planning for Non-Communicable Diseases (SPHeP-NCDs) model is used to calculate the impact of insufficient physical activity on non-communicable diseases and their health care expenditure for the 27 EU Member States (EU27).

The OECD has developed the SPHeP-NCDs model to quantify the impact of major risk factors on population health and the economy. To calculate the burden of insufficient physical activity, the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model is run for two scenarios. The "baseline" scenario is based on current levels of insufficient physical activity. The "no insufficient physical activity" scenario reflects a hypothetical state in which everyone achieves a sufficient level of physical activity. By comparing the outputs of these two scenarios, the burden of current insufficient physical activity levels can be calculated. Note that this analysis aims to capture the total existing burden of insufficient physical activity, rather than the potential impact of reductions in physical inactivity (e.g. the target in the WHO's Global Action Plan on Physical Activity 2018-30 to reduce physical inactivity by 10% by 2025, and 15% by 2030 (WHO, 2018_[1])).

To model a "no insufficient physical activity" scenario, a cut-off value for insufficient physical activity first needs to be defined. This is based on the recently published WHO guidelines for physical activity (WHO, 2020_[2]) (see Chapter 1). For adults, the general recommendation is to engage in at least 150-300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic physical activity; or at least 75-150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic physical activity.

To be able to compare different types of physical activity, the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model measures physical activity as MET-minutes per week (see Box 3.1), using an average value of 4 METs for moderate-intensity physical activity and 8 METs for vigorous physical activity (WHO, n.d._[3]).

Box 3.1. Metabolic equivalent of task, or METs

Metabolic equivalent of task (METs) is a measure to reflect the intensity of physical activities, and allows comparison between them. One MET is the energy equivalent expended per unit of time by an individual while seated at rest. More intense activities, which cost more energy expenditure than being seated at rest, are attributed higher METs:

Light-intensity physical activity (LPA) is between 1.5 and <3 METs. This includes driving a car, ironing, light cleaning activities, or other incidental activities that do not result in a substantial increase in heart rate or breathing rate.

Moderate-intensity physical activity (MPA) is between 3 and <6 METs. This includes activities such as gardening, dancing or brisk walking.

Vigorous-intensity physical activity (VPA) is 6 or more METs. This includes activities such as fast swimming (training or competition) or running (at least 8 km per hour).

This paper follows the commonly used average values of 4 METs for MPA and 8 METs for VPA. For example, 60 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity translate into 240 MET-minutes (4 METs x 60 minutes), as does 30 minutes of vigorous-intensity physical activity (8 METs x 30 minutes).

Source: WHO (2020_[2]), WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour, <u>https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/9789240015128</u>; WHO (n.d._[3]), Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) Analysis Guide, <u>http://www.who.int/chp/steps/GPAQ/en/index.html</u>.

Following the WHO guidelines, for this report two scenarios of "no insufficient physical activity" are modelled:

- Scenario 1: "150 minutes per week" In this hypothetical scenario, everyone in the population
 meets the minimum recommendation of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity¹ exercise per week
 (equivalent of 600 MET-minutes per week). Technically, this means that in the model the physical
 activity levels of people doing less than 600 MET-minutes per week are increased to 600 METminutes per week. For people who already do more than 600 MET-minutes per week, their level of
 physical activity remains unchanged.
- Scenario 2: "300 minutes per week" As the WHO guidelines indicate, higher levels of physical activity provide additional health benefits (WHO, 2020_[2]). The upper limit of the recommendations is to do twice as much (i.e. more than 300 minutes of moderate-intensity activity per week), and the cut-off value can therefore be set at 1 200 MET-minutes per week. Again, technically this means that everyone doing less than 1 200 MET-minutes per week sees their physical activity level increased to this level. For people who already do more than 1 200 MET-minutes per week, their level of physical activity remains unchanged.

The choice was made to present two scenarios because 150 minutes of moderate intensity exercise, or 600 MET-minutes per week, is a commonly used cut-off value for insufficient physical activity in the literature (see Box 3.2). However, it is a conservative scenario, where only the bare minimum recommendations are met. By also including the 300 minutes (1 200 MET-minutes per week) scenario the greater potential of physical activity can be explored.

Box 3.2. Defining insufficient physical activity

A large number of studies looking at the impact of low physical activity use a cut-off of 600 MET-minutes per week, albeit under different formulations (e.g. 5×30 minutes of MPA; 150 minutes of MPA; 600 MET-minutes/week; 150 min MPA or 75 min VPA/week or combinations) (Ding et al., 2017_[4]). Other cut-off values used include "3×20 min VPA" (480 MET-minutes per week), "≥1 200 MET-minutes per week" (considered as high physical activity), as well as minutes of exercise without a MET-value specified.

Rather than MET-minutes, some studies use energy expenditure (e.g. \geq 1.5 kcal/kg/day) to measure physical activity levels (Ding et al., 2017_[4]). Another commonly used measure in burden studies is "any leisure time physical activity", "any VPA", "exercised in the past 2 weeks", or variations thereof. These approaches cannot be used in the OECD SPHeP-NCD model, which uses MET-minutes per week to quantify physical activity.

For information on the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, and how it is used to model insufficient physical activity, please see Box 3.3, as well as the online technical documentation available at: http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc.

Box 3.3. Modelling insufficient physical activity in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model

The OECD SPHeP-NCDs model is an advanced systems modelling tool for public health policy and strategic planning. It is used to predict the health and economic outcomes of the population of a country or a region up to 2050. The model includes a comprehensive set of key behavioural and physiological risk factors (e.g. body mass index (BMI), physical activity, alcohol consumption, blood pressure) and their associated non-communicable diseases (NCDs) and other medical conditions. The model covers 53 countries, including OECD member countries, G20 countries, EU27 countries and OECD accession and selected partner countries. Note that the model does not take into account the impact of risk factors on communicable diseases.

For each country, the model uses demographic and risk factor characteristics by age- and sex-specific population groups from international databases. These inputs are used to generate synthetic populations, in which each individual is assigned demographic characteristics and a risk factor profile (see Figure 3.1). Based on these characteristics, an individual has a certain risk of developing a disease each year. For each year, a cross-sectional representation of the population can be obtained, to calculate health status indicators such as life expectancy, disease prevalence and disability-adjusted life years using disability weights.



Figure 3.1. Schematic overview of the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model

Note: This schematic is highly simplified and focuses on the disease component – it does not reflect some other components of the model (including births, immigration, emigration, death, remission and fatality). Source: OECD (2019_[5]), SPHeP-NCDs Technical Documentation, http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc.

The OECD SPHeP-NCDs model uses country-specific data on physical activity prevalence from the Institute for Health Metrics and Evaluation (IHME) (IHME, n.d._[6]). IHME data on physical activity is measured in total metabolic equivalent of task minutes per week (MET-minutes per week). While the

data from IHME is provided in four categories, in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model physical activity is modelled as a continuous variable. A piecewise linear function is assumed to model the cumulative distribution, calibrated in order to match the prevalence of the four available physical activity categories. A lower bound of 200 MET-minutes/week and an upper bound of 10 000 MET-minutes/week are applied in order to retain plausibility.

In the model, six diseases are directly related to insufficient physical activity through a relative risk: breast cancer, colon cancer, depression, type 2 diabetes, ischaemic heart disease and ischaemic stroke. As physical activity has an impact on BMI, a link between the two risk factors is modelled, indirectly linking physical activity to another six diseases: dementia, back pain, liver cancer, oesophageal cancer, atrial fibrillation, and haemorrhagic stroke (see 0 for details on the methodology behind this link, and Annex 3.B for results without the link). Physical activity is not linked to any potential increase in injuries, nor to any benefits in secondary prevention. The model takes into account the fact that individuals who do not develop a physical activity-related disease may develop other diseases.

Health care costs of disease treatment are estimated based on a per-case annual cost, which is extrapolated from national health-related expenditure data. The additional cost of multimorbidity is also calculated and applied. The extra cost of end-of-life care is also taken into account. In the model, people not dying from a physical activity-related disease continue to consume medical care for other conditions and incur medical costs.

Results are presented as annual averages or cumulative numbers for the period 2022-50. Single-year estimates are not used as they are affected by noise in the model. Since the scenario is introduced as a "shock" in 2022, rather than gradually over time, the annual average over 2022-50 reflects the impact in any of the years covered.

Previous estimates of the burden of insufficient physical activity primarily use a population attributable fraction (PAF) approach (Ding et al., 2017_[4]; Lee et al., 2012_[7]). PAF is the proportional reduction in population disease or mortality would occur if exposure to a risk factor were reduced. The benefit of the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model's microsimulation approach is that it takes into account all major NCDs, instead of being limited to the diseases for which a physical activity PAF is calculated. This means that it takes into account the effect of changes in morbidity and mortality on diseases not directly associated with physical activity (e.g. if people live longer due to being physically active, they can go on to develop other diseases). Moreover, the effect of multiple morbidities in one individual can be modelled.

Nevertheless, the results presented here are subject to limitations. Firstly, the impact of physical activity is limited to a set of 12 major diseases that are linked directly or indirectly to the prevalence of physical activity. However, there is emerging evidence of the impact of physical activity on a wider range of diseases and other health and well-being outcomes. Secondly, data on physical activity levels is generally self-reported, which has been shown to overestimate actual activity levels (Cerin et al., 2016_[8]; Dyrstad et al., 2014_[9]).

For more information on the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, see the SPHeP-NCDs Technical Documentation, available at: <u>http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc</u>.

The burden of insufficient physical activity on population health

Physical activity could prevent more than 10 000 premature deaths per year

If everyone in the 27 countries would do at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity exercise per week, 10 331 premature deaths (defined as deaths of people aged 30 to 70 years) would be avoided every year. This is similar to the number of deaths due to COVID-19 in that same age group in France and Germany combined in 2020. The five countries with the largest burden (Germany, France, Italy, Spain and Poland) make up three-fifths (62%) of the total burden across the 27 countries (Figure 3.2). While these are all countries with large populations, some smaller countries like Belgium and the Czech Republic also make up a considerable share of the total premature mortality burden. If the higher recommendations of 300 minutes of physical activity per week were met by everyone, nearly 30 000 premature deaths could be avoided per year.

Figure 3.2. Annual premature deaths due to insufficient physical activity

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week) on annual premature mortality (defined as deaths of people aged 30 to 70), average over 2022-50



Note: Rest includes FIN (92), DNK (88), LVA (70), CYP (41), SVN (31), EST (24), MLT (17) and LUX (9); the numbers in the labels indicate the number of premature deaths per year.

Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

The premature mortality rate due to insufficient physical activity is the lowest in Northern European countries, where between 2022 and 2050 less than 2 people per 100 000 inhabitants will die prematurely every year due to the effects of insufficient physical activity (less than 150 minutes per week) (Figure 3.3). The premature mortality rate is considerably higher in Romania and Lithuania, where for every 100 000 inhabitants more than 5 people will die prematurely due to insufficient physical activity. On average in the 27 EU Member States, doing 150 minutes of moderate intensity physical activity per week would prevent 2.6 premature deaths per 100 000 inhabitants.

Figure 3.3. Premature mortality rate due to insufficient physical activity

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on annual premature mortality (defined as deaths of people aged 30 to 70) per 100 000 inhabitants, average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

People who are currently insufficiently active could increase their life expectancy by 7.5 months by moving more

If people who currently do less than 150 minutes of physical activity per week were to increase their physical activity to this target, their life expectancy would increase by 7.5 months (Figure 3.4). Their healthy life expectancy, which takes into account years lived with diseases (Box 3.4), would increase by 7.9 months. If everyone who is now doing less than 300 minutes of physical activity per week would increase their activity to this level, their life expectancy would increase by more than a year (15.7 months).

Figure 3.4. The impact of insufficient physical activity on life expectancy in the insufficiently active population

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on the life expectancy or healthy life expectancy of people who are insufficiently active (months), average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Note: The label for the 300 minutes per week scenario indicates the additional months as compared to the 150 minutes scenario, e.g. for Latvia, meeting the 150 minutes per week guidelines would increase life expectancy of inactive people by 10.4 months, while meeting the 300 minutes guidelines would save another 9.6 months, for a total increase in life expectancy of 20.0 months. Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

Box 3.4. Life expectancy and healthy life expectancy

Life expectancy is a measure of mortality, as it reflects the age at which individuals are expected to die. Healthy life expectancy combines mortality with morbidity. It uses disease-specific disability weights to measure a disability-adjusted life expectancy.

For example, if someone is expected to die at the age of 60 years (life expectancy is 60 years), but they spend the last 10 years of their life with a disease that has a disability weight of 0.5, their healthy life expectancy is 55 years (50 years in full health + 10 years at 50% reduced health).

Note that while healthy life expectancy is per definition lower than life expectancy, the *change* in life expectancy (as presented in Figure 3.4 and Figure 3.5) can be greater than the *change* in healthy life expectancy. This is because the disability weights can "discount" life-years gained. Going back to the previous example, if the same person lives to 70 years in the "no insufficient physical activity" scenario, this would be a gain of 10 life years. However, if there is no change in the onset of disease and these additional years are also spent with a 0.5 disability weight disease, the gain in healthy life expectancy would be only 5 years.

At a population level, insufficient physical activity reduces the average life expectancy in the 27 EU Member States by 1.9 months (Figure 3.5). When assuming a higher cut-off of 300 minutes, insufficient physical activity reduces life expectancy by 5.1 months. In other words, if everyone in the 27 countries would do at least 300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, the average life expectancy of the total population would increase by nearly half a year. In comparison, EU Member States saw an average increase in life expectancy of 2.4 months per year between 2005 and 2018, due to advancements in health care, improvements in working and living conditions, healthier lifestyles and other factors (OECD/European Union, 2020[10]).

Figure 3.5. The impact of insufficient physical activity on population average life expectancy

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on the average life expectancy or healthy life expectancy of the total population (months), average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Note: The label for the 300 minutes per week scenario indicates the additional months as compared to the 150 minutes scenario, e.g. for Malta, meeting the 150 minutes per week guidelines would increase life expectancy by 3.3 months, while meeting the 300 minutes guidelines would save another 5.4 months, for a total increase in life expectancy of 8.7 months. Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

Countries with a high level of insufficient physical activity generally see a large impact on the average life expectancy of the population. On the other hand, countries such as Finland or the Netherlands have a lower level of insufficient physical activity, and the impact on the average life expectancy of the total population is therefore small.

Increasing physical activity could prevent 11.5 million new NCD cases by 2050

In the 27 countries, doing less than 150 minutes of moderate-intensity exercise per week is linked to 3.5 million new cases of depression between 2022 and 2050, as well as 3.8 million new cases of cardiovascular disease, nearly 1 million new cases of type 2 diabetes and over 400 000 new cancers (Figure 3.6). Across the 12 diseases affected by physical activity in the model, doing at least 150 minutes of physical activity could prevent 11.5 million new NCDs over the next 29 years. Meeting the target of 300 minutes of physical activity per week would prevent a further 16 million cases.

Figure 3.6. The burden of disease due to insufficient physical activity

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week) on number of new disease cases (thousands), total over 2022-50 and for all the 27 EU Member States



Note: Not (fully) labelled are breast cancer (108), haemorrhagic stroke (104), oesophageal cancer (14) and liver cancer (13). Graph is limited to diseases included in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model and may not capture all diseases linked to physical inactivity. The numbers in the labels indicate the number of new disease cases due to insufficient physical activity in thousands over 2022-50. Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

The majority of disease cases due to insufficient physical activity affect people between the age of 50 and 79 years (Figure 3.7). Cardiovascular diseases account for 40% of all diseases due to insufficient physical activity in people aged 60 to 79 years, and nearly three-fourths of the burden for people over 80 years old. While cancers and cardiovascular diseases are rarer in the younger age groups, insufficient physical activity does cause a considerable burden of depression and back pain in this population. Notably, in the over-80 age group there is a decrease in back pain issues due to insufficient physical activity. This is likely the result of the decrease in life expectancy associated with insufficient physical activity, which reduces the number of people in this age group and consequently the number of diseases they develop.

Figure 3.7. The burden of disease due to insufficient physical activity by age group

Number of new disease cases per year by age group due to insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week), average over 2022-50 and for all the 27 EU Member States



Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

If everyone were to meet the minimum physical activity guidelines of at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week, 3.9% of all new type 2 diabetes cases would be avoided between 2022 and 2050, as well as 2.3% of cardiovascular disease cases. Meeting the upper guidelines of 300 minutes of physical activity per week would prevent nearly 10% of new diabetes cases, 5.2% of new cardiovascular disease cases, and around 4% of new cancer cases.

The burden of insufficient physical activity on health care expenditure

Increasing physical activity can save nearly EUR PPP 8 billion per year in health care expenditure

If everyone were to do at least 150 minutes of physical activity per week, a total of EUR PPP² 7.7 billion per year could be saved in health care expenditure across the 27 countries (Figure 3.8) – more than the total annual health care expenditure of Lithuania and Luxembourg combined. A large part of the burden is in countries with large populations and high health care expenditure levels, such as Germany, Italy and France.

Figure 3.8. Health care expenditure due to insufficient physical activity

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week) on total annual health care expenditure in EUR PPP (millions), average over 2022-50



Note: Rest includes HUN (34), SVK (25), HRV (24), BGR (22), CYP (20), LTU (18), LUX (13), SVN (13), MLT (12), LVA (5) and EST (2); the numbers in the labels indicate the total annual health care expenditure in millions of EUR PPP. Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

Countries with higher health care expenditures in general tend to spend more on treating diseases linked to insufficient physical activity, and vice versa (Figure 3.9). However, the prevalence of insufficient physical activity also plays an important role: while per capita health care expenditure in Malta, Portugal and Italy is around the EU average, the high prevalence of insufficient physical activity in these countries means that the associated health care expenditure is higher than the average. The 27 countries included in the analysis could save on average EUR PPP 14.4 per capita per year between 2022 and 2050 if everyone met at least the minimum physical activity guidelines of 150 minutes of exercise per week. Meeting the guidelines of 300 minutes per week would save another EUR PPP 17.7 per capita, for a total of EUR PPP 32.2 per capita, per year.

Figure 3.9. Health care expenditure per capita due to insufficient physical activity

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on annual per capita health care expenditure in EUR PPP, average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

EU Member States could on average save 0.6% of their health care expenditure by increasing physical activity

EU Member States could save on average 0.6% of their health care expenditure if everyone did at least 150 minutes of physical activity per week (Figure 3.10). If everyone were to meet the 300 minutes guidelines, this would save 1.2% of total health care expenditure. The potential savings from doing at least 150 minutes of physical activity range from 0.16% of total health care expenditure in Estonia, to 1.2% in Malta.

Figure 3.10. Health care expenditure attributable to insufficient physical activity

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on annual health care expenditure as a percentage of total health care expenditure, average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Note: Missing label for Estonia (150 min/week) is 0.16. Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

References

Cerin, E. et al. (2016), "Correlates of Agreement between Accelerometry and Self-reported Physical Activity", <i>Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise</i> , Vol. 48/6, pp. 1075-1084, <u>https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.000000000000870</u> .	[8]
Ding, D. et al. (2017), <i>The economic burden of physical inactivity: A systematic review and critical appraisal</i> , BMJ Publishing Group, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097385</u> .	[4]
Dyrstad, S. et al. (2014), "Comparison of Self-reported versus Accelerometer-Measured Physical Activity", <i>Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise</i> , Vol. 46/1, pp. 99-106, <u>https://doi.org/10.1249/mss.0b013e3182a0595f</u> .	[9]
Hall KD, S. (2011), "Quantification of the effect of energy imbalance on bodyweight", <i>Lancet</i> , Vol. 378/9793, pp. 826-837, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60812-X</u> .	[13]
IHME (n.d.), Epi Visualization, https://vizhub.healthdata.org/epi/ (accessed on 15 October 2021).	[6]

Jette, M., K. Sidney and G. Blumchen (1990), "Metabolic Equivalents (METS) in Exercise Testing, Exercise Prescription, and Evaluation of Functional Capacity", <i>Clinical Cardiology</i> , Vol. 13, pp. 555-565.	[14]
Lee, I. et al. (2012), "Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: an analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy", <i>The Lancet</i> , Vol. 380/9838, pp. 219-229, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)61031-9</u> .	[7]
OECD (2019), <i>SPHeP-NCDs Technical Documentation</i> , OECD, Paris, <u>http://oecdpublichealthexplorer.org/ncd-doc</u> .	[5]
OECD (2019), <i>The Heavy Burden of Obesity: The Economics of Prevention</i> , OECD Health Policy Studies, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/67450d67-en</u> .	[15]
OECD/European Union (2020), <i>Health at a Glance: Europe 2020: State of Health in the EU Cycle</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/82129230-en</u> .	[10]
Stensel, D., J. King and A. Thackray (2016), "Role of physical activity in regulating appetite and body fat", <i>Nutrition Bulletin</i> , Vol. 41/4, pp. 314-322, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nbu.12234</u> .	[12]
Swift, D. et al. (2014), "The Role of Exercise and Physical Activity in Weight Loss and Maintenance", <i>Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases</i> , Vol. 56/4, pp. 441-447, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2013.09.012.</u>	[11]
WHO (2020), WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour, World Health Organization, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/336656</u> .	[2]
WHO (2018), Global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030, World Health Organization, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272722</u> .	[1]
WHO (n.d.), <i>Global Physical Activity Questionnaire (GPAQ) Analysis Guide</i> , <u>http://www.who.int/chp/steps/GPAQ/en/index.html</u> (accessed on 29 January 2021).	[3]

Annex 3.A. Linking physical activity to BMI in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model

In addition to providing protective effects for a range of diseases, increased physical activity can also contribute to modest weight loss (Swift et al., 2014_[11]; Stensel, King and Thackray, 2016_[12]). As this lowers a person's body-mass index (BMI), physical activity can reduce the risk of developing diseases associated with a high BMI. To capture this effect, the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model includes a link between physical activity (PA) and BMI.

The PA/BMI link is based on the widely used energy balance model developed by Hall et al. (2011_[13]). An interactive version of this model is available in the form of the Body Weight Planner on the website of the National Institute of Diabetes and Digestive and Kidney Diseases (<u>https://www.niddk.nih.gov/bwp</u>). By varying the inputs (age, sex, weight, height, starting level of physical activity), the Body Weight Planner was used to generate a dataset to train an algorithm for the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model.

For each data entry, calorie intake was set to remain at the baseline level. The level of physical activity was assumed to change on day one, which resulted in a change in calorie output. METs were converted to calories using the following formula (Jette, Sidney and Blumchen, 1990^[14]):

$$\frac{MET \ value * 3.5 * body \ weight \ in \ kg}{200} = calories \ per \ minute$$

Based on this formula, the increase in daily calorie expenditure was converted to MET-minutes per week as follows:

$$\frac{Calories \ per \ day * 200}{3.5 * body \ weight \ in \ kg} * 7 \ days = MET minutes \ per \ week$$

The resulting change in BMI was measured after one year. At this point, roughly half of the weight loss will have taken place. Reaching a bodyweight plateau is estimated to take around 10 years (Hall KD, 2011_[13]), but the simulator does not go beyond 500 days. The estimated weight loss is therefore an underestimation compared to the theoretical maximum. However, in reality it can be argued that few people would maintain the increased level of physical activity and the constant level of calorie intake consistently over 10 years.

A regression analysis was used to understand how BMI is affected by changes in physical activity, as well as by age, sex, starting BMI and starting level of physical activity. Age, sex and starting BMI were all not significant, nor was an interaction term between age and changes in physical activity. This is consistent with the fact that the relative contribution of these variables to the change in BMI was also small. The interaction effect between sex and changes in physical activity was significant, as were starting physical activity level, changes in physical activity and the square function of the change in physical activity. The final algorithm used in the model is therefore:

$$\Delta BMI = -0.0001\ 046 * \Delta PA + 0.0000\ 000\ 204 * \Delta PA^2 + 0.0000\ 0313 * sex * \Delta PA + 0.0174\ 877 * PA_{start} - 0.0245613.$$

With

 $\Delta BMI = change in BMI in percentage$ $\Delta PA = change in physical activity in METs/week$ sex = (1, male)(2, female) $PA_{start} = starting level of physical activity (as per below)$

The level of physical activity in the Body Weight Planner is indicated by a number between 1.4 and 2.5, with a value of 1.4 representing a sedentary person. Using the "estimate your level" function in the Planner, the levels were approximately matched to the categories in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model as follows:

Annex Table 3.A.1	. Levels of physical	activity in the Bo	ody Weight Planne	r and the OECD SPHeP-
NCDs model		-		

Leisure time physical activity	Body weight planner	OECD SPHeP-NCDs model
No exercise	1.4	Inactive (below 600 METs/week)
Walking/non-strenuous exercise once a week	1.5	Low level of activity (between 600 and 3 999 METs/week)
Regular activities more than once a week	1.7	Moderately active (between 4 000 and 7 999 METs/week)
Strenuous activities several times a week	1.9	Highly active (8 000 METs/week)

Note: The level of physical activity in the Body Weight Planner's "estimate my level" was done only based on exercise-related physical activity, while the physical activity levels in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model include also other types of physical activity, such as transport, work, gardening and housework.

Based on the algorithm, an inactive, healthy-weight man who starts to do moderate-intensity exercise twice a week for 30 minutes (delta MET minutes per week = 240) can expect to lose 1.5 kg after one year (assuming his calorie intake and non-exercise physical activity stay the same). If an overweight woman with a low level of physical activity starts to do vigorous-intensity exercise for 30 minutes, three times per week, she would lose just under 5 kg after one year.

It is important to note that the PA/BMI link in the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model is a hypothetical link to estimate the theoretical burden of disease. In this scenario, all insufficient physical activity is artificially eliminated and this increase in physical activity is linked to a change in BMI for all affected individuals. In reality however, people might not lose weight as they may increase their calorie intake or subconsciously reduce their energy expenditure in unstructured physical activity (Stensel, King and Thackray, 2016[12]).

Annex 3.B. The burden of insufficient physical activity without the link with BMI

The results presented in the main report consider the direct impact of insufficient physical activity on health, as well as the impact of insufficient physical activity on BMI and its subsequent impact on health. As high BMI is an important risk factor for a number of diseases, this link results in a substantial increase in the burden of disease. Alternatively, it is possible to model only the direct impact of insufficient physical activity on health.

One of the reasons not to include a link between physical activity and BMI is that this makes the results directly comparable to previous OECD work on the burden of obesity (OECD, 2019_[15]), as both would consider only one risk factor and its consequences. However, it has to be noted that this is more of an academic exercise. In reality, insufficient physical activity does have an impact on BMI, and this adds to the burden on health and the economy. For policy makers who want to understand the impact of insufficient physical activity levels, it is important to have a picture of the full extent of the issue.

Below are the results of the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model on the burden of insufficient physical activity, without the link between physical activity and BMI (PA/BMI link).

When only considering the direct impact of insufficient physical activity on premature mortality, 0.9 deaths can be avoided per 100 000 inhabitants by meeting the guidelines of 150 minutes of physical activity per week (Annex Figure 3.B.1). The additional effect of meeting the higher guidelines of 300 minutes per week is only 0.2 deaths per 100 000 inhabitants more. This is because the largest relative risks of developing disease are associated with doing less than 150 minutes per week. Including the PA/BMI link increases the impact of the 150 minutes scenario nearly three-fold (from 0.9 per 100 000 to 2.6 per 100 000).

Annex Figure 3.B.1. Premature mortality rate due to insufficient physical activity (no PA/BMI link)

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on annual premature mortality (defined as deaths of people aged 30 to 70) per 100 000 population, average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

Average life expectancy in the 27 countries decreases by 0.7 months due to the effects of insufficient physical activity, when not including the link between physical activity and BMI (Annex Figure 3.B.2). Again, the additional benefit of doing 300 minutes per week versus 150 minutes per week is small – adding only 0.1 months of life expectancy. The impact with the PA/BMI link is more than twice as large, at 1.9 months for the 150 minutes scenario. The ranking of the countries from low to high impact does not change much with the exclusion of the PA/BMI link.

Annex Figure 3.B.2. The impact of insufficient physical activity on population average life expectancy (no PA/BMI link)

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on the average life expectancy or healthy life expectancy of the total population (months), average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals

			150 min/week				300 min/wee	k			
		Life expectanc	у				Healthy life e	expecta	псу		
MLT		1.2	₩₩₩	ML	т 📔		1.4		H	H	
ROU	•	1.2 H	н	ROL	J		1.2	н	н		
LTU	•	1.1	H	CYF	P		1.1	н	н		
CYP	-	.0 H	н	LTU	J	1	.1	I	H		
LVA	0.9	I HI		PR	Т	1.()	I F	Н		
HRV	0.9	H H		ITA	A 🗖	0.9	Н	Н			
CZE	0.8	H H		IRI	L	0.9		Н			
PRT	0.8	I H		LVA	A 🗍	0.9		H			
IRL	0.8	ł H		HR	v \llbracket	0.9	н	H			
ITA	0.8	НН		BEI	L	0.8	H F	Н			
SVK	0.8	нн		CZE	E	0.8	H H	I			
POL	0.8	нн		EU2	7	0.8					
AUT	0.8	I H		AU	т	0.8	н				
EU27	0.7			FRA	A	0.8	I H				
GRC	0.7	H H		GRO		0.8	H H				
HUN	0.7	H H		SVł	ĸ	0.8	H H				
BGR	0.7	I H		SWE	E	0.8	нн				
BEL	0.7	H H		POI	L	0.8	H H				
SWE	0.7	НН		BGF	२ 📄	0.7					
DEU	0.6	НН		DEL	J \llbracket	0.7	H H				
FRA	0.6	I H		HUN	N	0.7	H H				
FIN	0.6			ESF	P	0.7	I H				
EST	0.6	H H		FI	N	0.7	H H				
ESP	0.6	H H		LUX	×	0.6	H				
LUX	0.5	H		ES	Т	0.6	H H				
DNK	0.4	н		DN	ĸ	0.5	Н				
SVN	. 0.4 I H			SVN	۷	0.4 I H					
NLD	0.3 H			, NLC		0.4 I H					
0	0.	5 1	1.5	2	0	0.5	1		1	.5	2
				Months							Months

Note: The label indicates the impact for the 150 minutes per week scenario. Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

When looking only at the direct effects of insufficient physical activity on health care expenditure, meeting the guidelines of 150 minutes per week would save on average EUR PPP 8.5 per capita per year across the 27 EU Member States (Annex Figure 3.B.3). This is about 40% lower than when the effect of physical activity on BMI is included, in which case the impact is EUR PPP 14.4 per capita per year. Again, there is not much change in the specific countries with relatively high and low impacts.

Annex Figure 3.B.3. Health care expenditure per capita due to insufficient physical activity (no PA/BMI link)

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on annual per capita health care expenditure in EUR PPP, average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

EU Member States could save 0.3% of their health care expenditure if everyone did at least 150 minutes of physical activity per week – when looking only at the direct impact of physical activity (Annex Figure 3.B.4). This is again about 40% lower than when the effect of physical activity on BMI is taken into account.

Annex Figure 3.B.4. Health care expenditure attributable to insufficient physical activity (no PA/BMI link)

The impact of insufficient physical activity (defined as less than 150 minutes per week or 300 minutes per week) on annual health care expenditure as a percentage of total health care expenditure, average over 2022-50, with 95% confidence intervals



Source: OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

Notes

¹ Going forward in this chapter, for readability, physical activity levels will be expressed only in minutes of moderate-intensity activity, without the vigorous intensity-equivalent. Note that 150 minutes of moderate-intensity exercise and 75 minutes of vigorous exercise (the lower bound recommendations) both translate into 600 MET-minutes; and 300 minutes of moderate exercise and 150 minutes of vigorous exercise (the higher bound recommendations) both translate into 1 200 MET-minutes.

² Purchasing power parities (PPPs) are the rates of currency conversion that try to equalise the purchasing power of different currencies, by eliminating the differences in price levels between countries.

4 Policy options to increase physical activity

To increase physical activity levels in the population, a wide range of policy options exists. This chapter provides an overview of these policies, drawing on case studies from across the European Union. The chapter covers interventions in schools, workplaces, and in the health care setting, as well as communication and information policies, policies to increase access to sports facilities, and to change the environment to encourage active transport and outdoor activities. It advocates for a comprehensive, well-funded package of policies to get people moving.

Key messages

- Increasing physical activity levels can have considerable health and economic benefits, including an increase in life expectancy, fewer cases of NCDs, and lower health care expenditure.
- Despite many countries having stepped up their efforts to promote physical activity, there remain gaps in the policy response. For example, schemes to promote active travel to school or work are only present in 14 and 17 out of 27 EU Member States, respectively.
- A wide range of policy options exist to increase population physical activity, which improve population health, as well as reduce health care expenditure, including:
 - o setting-specific programmes, in schools, workplaces and the health care system
 - o policies to increase access to sports facilities
 - o urban design, environment and transport policies
 - o communication and information policies
- As physical activity is a complex behaviour, a comprehensive package of policies is needed to target all its drivers at the same time, with sufficient and sustained funding and evaluation.
- A policy package aimed at increasing physical activity, implemented in 36 countries, would save around EUR 14 billion in health cost by 2050 (equivalent to the total annual health care expenditure of Greece) and return EUR 1.7 for every EUR 1 invested.

Increasing physical activity levels can have considerable health and economic benefits

Despite the recognised health and well-being benefits of physical activity, many people do not move enough. As shown in Chapter 3, eliminating insufficient physical activity would have a considerable impact on population health: if everyone in the 27 EU Member States would do at least 150 minutes of moderate-intensity activity per week, more than 10 000 premature deaths could be avoided each year, and 11.5 million cases of new NCDs would be prevented over the next three decades. Increasing physical activity would also reduce the burden on countries' health care expenditure. If the guidelines of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity per week were met, countries would save 0.6% on average of their health care expenditure – a total of EUR 8 billion per year.

The impact of insufficient physical activity on health care expenditure presented in this report is comparable to previous estimates, albeit at the lower end of the range (Figure 4.1). Since the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model takes into account diseases and health care cost not related to insufficient physical activity (e.g. if people live longer due to increased physical activity levels, they would develop other conditions), the impact estimated by the OECD model is expected to be lower than when using a PAF approach (see also Chapter 3, Box 3.3).



Figure 4.1. Previous estimates of the economic burden of insufficient physical activity

Note: The previous estimates presented above all use a PAF approach. Source: Reproduced from Ding et al., (2017[1]), complemented with analysis on 27 EU Member States from the OECD SPHeP-NCDs model, 2022.

It has to be noted that the benefits of increased physical activity reach far beyond population health and health care expenditure. A healthier population translates into a larger, more productive workforce. The health and economic impact of the current and potential future pandemics may be lessened (Box 4.1). Finally, there are beneficial links between physical activity policies and other important policy areas such as the environment (Box 4.2). Altogether, there is a strong case to invest in policies that increase physical activity levels in the population.

Box 4.1. Physical activity and the COVID-19 recovery

As discussed in Chapter 2, physical activity levels appear to have decreased during the COVID-19 pandemic. Policies to encourage physical activity would not only mitigate this effect, but can have wider impacts on the COVID-19 recovery.

Firstly, physical activity improves the health of the population, making it more resilient against COVID-19 and any potential future outbreaks. Evidence has shown that physical activity provides protective effects against severe COVID-19 outcomes (Sallis et al., 2021_[2]), and people without NCDs are less likely to develop severe symptoms or die from COVID-19 (Jordan, Adab and Cheng, 2020_[3]). Moreover, regular moderate to vigorous physical activity has been shown to increase the potency of vaccination (Chastin et al., 2021_[4]).

Secondly, physical activity can reduce the considerable impact that the pandemic has had on mental health and well-being. Since March 2020, prevalence of anxiety and depression has increased and in some countries it even doubled (OECD, 2021_[5]). Physical activity can help to tackle this issue, as it is as effective as cognitive behavioural therapy or antidepressant medication for mild depressive symptoms (WHO, 2019_[6]). Moreover, organised sports provide important social connections after a period of social distancing.

Thirdly, the sports and exercise industry was hit hard during the pandemic, as confinement and other containment measures meant long-term closures for many sports facilities, clubs and informal exercise groups. Across the EU Member States, it is estimated that as much as EUR 47 billion has been lost in sports-related GDP (15.3% of total sports-related GDP) due to COVID-19, as well as 844 773 jobs (16.1% of total sports-related employment) (European Union, 2020[7]). Investing in sports and physical activity can therefore contribute to the economic recovery as well as public health.

Box 4.2. The interconnection between physical activity and environmental policies

Climate change and the degradation of the environment are considered some of the major global threats of our age, and many countries have put in place extensive policies to reduce emissions, mitigate the impacts of climate change and restore biodiversity. Fortunately, many environmental policies also have a beneficial impact on physical activity – and vice versa.

- **Active transport**: To reduce emission and energy use, climate change policies have been introduced to encourage cycling, walking and other forms of sustainable, active transport.
- **Green space**: Parks and other green spaces sequester carbon dioxide, help mitigate the urban heat island effect and provide habitat for urban biodiversity, whilst also providing space for people to be active.
- **Clean air**: Air pollution is a major environmental concern, and can impede people from exercising outside. Policies to reduce pollution, such as taxes, can therefore have a dual effect.

In **Finland**, the government adopted a resolution in 2018 to promote active and sustainable modes of transportation. The resolution highlights both the environmental and public health impact of active transport. A number of programmes support this resolution, which are co-funded by different ministries, including both the ministry of environment and of social affairs and health, and are carried out in partnership with the transport sector and nongovernmental organisations (NGOs). The Smart to School programme, for example, aims to increase active travel to school, improve road safety, strengthen a culture of active transportation and support schools to implement policies that promote these objectives. Similarly, the Smart to Work forum is a nationwide network of governmental, labour and NGOs that promotes active travel as a strategy to increase levels of physical activity among workers and encourage climate friendly choices.

Source: OECD (2017_[8]), Healthy People, Healthy Planet, <u>www.oecd.org/health/healthy-people-healthy-planet.htm</u>; Abu-Omar, Gelius and Messing (2020_[9]), Physical activity promotion in the age of climate change, 10.12688/F1000RESEARCH.23764.2; (2018_[10]), Programme and government resolution to promote walking and cycling, <u>https://www.lvm.fi/en/-/programme-and-government-resolution-to-promote-walking-and-cycling-970101</u>; WHO (2021_[11]), 2021 physical activity factsheets for the European Union Member States in the WHO European Region, <u>https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/physical-activity/data-and-statistics/physical-activity-fact-sheets/2021-physical-activity-factsheets-for-the-european-union-member-states-in-the-who-european-region.</u>

Policy makers can choose from a range of options to increase physical activity levels

A wide range of policy options exist to increase population physical activity, including regulatory, economic and information policies. Some are setting- or target-group specific – for example interventions in schools, workplaces or in the health care setting. Other policies aim to increase access to sports facilities, or change the environment to encourage active transport and outdoor activities. Communication policies can be used to encourage physical activity and inform people about what to do, when and where (Figure 4.2). The remainder of this chapter discussed the different policy options and presents selected case studies from EU Member States.

Figure 4.2. Policy options to increase physical activity



School-based interventions

- Physical education classes
- Active school breaks
- Funding for after school activities
- Active transport to and from school



Workplace-based interventions

- Counselling and information
- Behavioural strategies, like point-ofdecision prompts to take the stairs
- Environmental strategies, such as standing desks
- Active transport to and from the office



Interventions in the healthcare setting

- General behavioural counselling
- Prescribing physical activity
- Healthcare-led exercise interventions



Interventions in the sports sector

- Programmes to increase sports participations
- Investment in sports infrastructure
- Funding for local sports clubs



Urban design, environment and transport policies

- Policies to improve road safety
- Planning guidelines to increase parks, trails and other green spaces
- Investments in cycling lanes or public transport

Note: This list includes examples and is not exhaustive. Source: OECD/WHO analysis.



Information and communication policies

- Physical activity guidelines
- National campaigns
- Apps with information about the availability of resources and activities

Almost all EU Member States monitor physical activity levels in adults and children, and have physical education in schools (Figure 4.3). Moreover, since 2015, there has been a strong increase in the number of countries that have policies to improve access to physical activity for socially disadvantaged groups and older adults, and schemes for physical activity promotion in schools and the workplace.

However, there is still considerable scope to expand the policy response across the Europe. In particular, few countries have implemented programmes to involve sports clubs in health promotion (Sports Clubs for Health, see also Box 4.6), or systematically apply the European guidelines in planning leisure-time infrastructure (IMPALA, see also Box 4.8). Schemes to promote active travel to school or work are only present in 14 and 17 out of 27 EU Member States, respectively. Moreover, while in 2015 all countries reported having a HEPA policy or action plan that specifically targets high needs groups (e.g. young children, older adults people in low socio-economic groups, people with a disability), in 2021 only 20 out of 27 countries had such policies.

Figure 4.3. Physical activity policies in EU Member States

Proportion of EU Member States that have implemented each of the 23 health-enhancing physical activity policies and strategies recommended by the EU Council



Note: Direct comparisons of the data must be made with caution, as the questions in the three surveys were slightly different, new focal points may have collected data differently and different Member States responded to the survey in each round (Greece did not participate in the survey in 2015, and the United Kingdom was no longer a Member State of the EU in 2021).

Source: WHO (2021[11]), 2021 physical activity factsheets for the European Union Member States in the WHO European Region, https://www.euro.who.int/en/health-topics/disease-prevention/physical-activity/data-and-statistics/physical-activity-fact-sheets/2021-physicalactivity-factsheets-for-the-european-union-member-states-in-the-who-european-region.

School-based programmes

Schools can play an important role in increasing physical activity, by providing education on the importance of physical activity as well as by offering physical activity opportunities during and after school. Physical education classes have been shown to make students more active in, outside, and beyond school, as well as having a positive effect on students' social skills and social development (OECD, 2019_[12]). It may also improve educational outcomes (Norris et al., 2019_[13]) and contribute to healthy lifestyles that last into adulthood (Dohle and Wansink, 2013_[14]; Black et al., 2019_[15]). In all EU Member States (WHO, 2021_[11]), schools are required by law to provide physical education classes.

However, there is considerable variation in how physical education is defined and quantified, how it relates to and encompasses health education, how it is inscribed and regarded within the curriculum, and, importantly, how it is implemented and assessed in schools (OECD, 2019_[12]). While all EU Member States reported having physical education classes, only 74% monitored their quality (WHO, 2021_[11]).

Besides physical education classes, physical activity can also be encouraged in schools through targeted programmes (Box 4.3). In the EU, programmes to encourage active school breaks have been implemented in 12 countries, active breaks during lessons in 16 countries, after-school physical activity programmes in 21 countries and programmes to encourage active travel to school in 14 countries (WHO, 2021[11]).

Box 4.3. School-based physical activity programmes

Hungary: Mandatory daily physical education classes

The 2012 Public Act on Education introduced daily physical education (PE) classes as of school year 2012/2013 for grades 1, 5 and 9 in a staggered implementation system. This meant that by September 2015, all students in the Hungarian education system had compulsory PE classes every day. Since September 2013, the new National Core Curriculum regulated also the content of PE classes. The philosophy of the new curriculum focused more on health objectives and on the cognitive contents enabling emotional and social development. Beside the daily PE policy, a national health-related physical fitness surveillance system (so called NETFIT) was introduced in 2015, which monitors students' fitness level on an annual basis (Kovacs et al., 2018[16]).

Austria: "Move children healthy 2.0"

"Move children healthy 2.0" (Kinder gesund bewegen 2.0) is Austria's largest sport and school programme (Fit Sport Austria, 2016_[17]). Its aim is to build co-operation between sports clubs and primary schools to provide children with the opportunity to take part in age-appropriate, diverse and joyful exercise programs free of charge. "Move children healthy 2.0" also targets educators, teachers and parents in recognition of their significant influence on the activity level and behaviour of children. The initiative started in 2009 under the name "Move children healthy" (Kinder gesund bewegen) and is implemented by the three Sports for All organisations (ASKÖ, ASVÖ and SPORTUNION) through local sport clubs. It is co-ordinated by the non-profit organisation Fit Sport Austria and funded by the Austrian Federal Ministry for Arts, Culture, the Civil Service and Sport.

Lithuania: Physical activity after school provided by the informal education financing system

Physical activity after school is provided by the informal education financing system, whereby allocations are distributed from the national budget to municipalities according to the number of schoolchildren. Informal programmes are offered by sports clubs, free-lance teachers, municipal sport centres and others. Municipal budgets also provide for sports services and activities for children (WHO, 2021[11]).

Estonia: Schools in Motion

The Schools in Motion programme in Estonia takes a whole-school approach, covering physical education, active recess, active lessons and active transport to and from school (Mooses et al., 2021_[18]). Participating schools are supported through seminars, workshops and skills training, and have access to easy-to-use materials and research, for example tips on how to make the indoor and outdoor environment more physical activity friendly, and techniques for reducing sedentary time during classes. Using these resources, each school can develop their own action plan. In 2021, there were 148 participating schools (28% of all general education schools) with more than 63 000 students (WHO, 2021_[11]).

Belgium: Financial aid for after-school activities

In Belgium, the Agency for Infrastructure in Education (AGION) and Sport Vlaanderen provide subsidies to open sports and physical activity infrastructure after school. Schools can apply for a grant of up to EUR 140 000 for secondary education and up to EUR 160 000 for preschool and primary education (AGION, 2021^[19]).
Poland: Student Sports Club Programme

The Student Sports Club Programme is a nationwide programme aimed at promoting physical activity among primary and secondary school students. It has been run by the Ministry of Sport and Tourism since 2017, and systematically organises extra-curricular sports activities conducted by physical education teachers in schools. Students participate in 60 minutes of activities twice a week in various sports. Every year, over 330 000 students and more than 14 000 teachers participate in the programme. In 2020, the Student Sports Club activities were held in almost 9 000 schools in all regions of Poland.

Workplace-based programmes

As many adults spend a large portion of their lives in the office, workplace-based actions are increasingly considered as an effective tool to influence lifestyle (OECD, 2019_[20]). Actions can target behaviour in the workplace, such as reducing sedentary behaviour by encouraging walking breaks and stair use, or focus on transport to and from the office (Box 4.4). In 2021, 20 out of 27 EU Member States had national guidance or a programme to promote physical activity in the workplace, and 17 had national guidance or a programme to promote to work (WHO, 2021_[11]).

Interventions to reduce sedentary behaviour are of particular importance for desk-based work environments, where employees spend a large part of their day being sedentary. These interventions can be educational strategies, such as counselling, behavioural strategies, like point-of-decision prompts to take the stairs, or environmental strategies, such as standing desks (Chu et al., 2016_[21]).

Previous OECD modelling estimated that implementing programmes to combat workplace sedentary behaviour in 36 countries could prevent 232 000 cases of cardiovascular disease and 222 000 cases of diabetes over 2020-50, and increase GDP by 0.015% (OECD, 2019_[20]). Moreover, due to the positive impact on health care expenditure, workforce size and productivity, for every EUR 1 invested in workplace sedentary behaviour programmes, EUR 4.1 is returned in economic benefits.

Box 4.4. Active travel to work programme

Ireland: Smarter Travel Workplaces and Smarter Travel Campus

The National Transport Authority operates the Smarter Travel Workplaces and Smarter Travel Campus behavioural change programmes on behalf of the Department of Transport, Tourism and Sport. The Workplaces and Campus programmes work with large employers and third level educational institutions to encourage more sustainable commuting and travel choices amongst their students and staff.

The Smarter Travel Workplaces programme helps companies promote walking, cycling, public transport, car sharing, the use of technology instead of travel, and flexible working practices. It offers promotional materials, such as posters on the benefits of walking; guides and other information, for example on how to set up a company-wide carpooling system or on developing a Workplace Travel Plan; and awards to successful examples. Larger companies can qualify for an online employee travel survey, analysis with a suggested Action Plan (National Transport Authority, n.d._[22]).

Bulgaria: Chair Up

Chair Up is a programme that helps people whose jobs involve sitting for long periods. The programme recommends workouts, physiotherapy and yoga therapy as well as remedial exercises that can be done in the office and at home. Monthly thematic programmes are proposed, as well as one-off training sessions on diverse topics. The general goals are to introduce a healthy, active lifestyle to people working in offices and at home; improve the health of employees; increase employee concentration, stress resistance and overall work efficiency; and raise the general awareness about sedentary behaviour. The Chair Up programme has already been implemented in companies, institutions and business centres reaching a total of more than 12 000 employees (Chair UP, 2020_[23]).

Interventions in the health care sector

Health care professionals are well placed to provide advice on physical activity and its health benefits, as their opinion is generally respected and they come into contact with a large proportion of the population – including high-risk groups. Such advice can take the form of general behavioural counselling, or more formal prescribing of physical activity (OECD, $2019_{[20]}$)(Box 4.5). In the EU, 18 out of 27 EU Member States had national guidance or a programme to promote counselling on physical activity or exercise prescription by health professionals in 2021 (WHO, $2021_{[11]}$).

The basic model of physical activity on prescription (PAP) programmes includes a personalised written prescription detailing the type, amount and intensity of physical activity. This prescription is takes into account the person's health status, motivation and preferences. However, the design of PAP programmes varies across countries and regions: prescriptions can be written by GPs, nurses or other health professionals; the prescribed physical activity can be facility or home-based; and the programme duration differs (OECD, 2019_[20]). Importantly, frequent meetings as well as subsidised or free access to sports facilities or exercise classes can improve the effectiveness of the programme, but also increases the cost.

Previous OECD modelling estimated that implementing PAP in 36 countries would prevent 236 000 cases of cardiovascular disease and 96 000 cases of diabetes over 2020-50 and increase GDP by 0.006% (OECD, 2019_[20]). Moreover, for every EUR 1 invested in prescription of physical activity programmes, EUR 0.9 is returned in economic benefits – on top of the health and well-being benefits.

Box 4.5. Physical activity interventions in the health care sector

France: Sports – health houses

Sports – health houses (maisons sport-santé) were initiated by the ministries responsible for sports and health in 2019. There are currently 288 such centres throughout the country, and the goal is to have 500 by 2022. They may be hosted by public (e.g. hospitals, local authorities) or private structures (e.g. associations, sports and health networks). They organise information and awareness sessions and provide guidance and personalised support from health and sports professionals for sustainable practice of physical activity and sport, particularly for people who require adapted physical activity prescribed by a doctor, people with chronic diseases for whom physical activity is recommended and citizens in good health who want support to return to a physically active lifestyle (Ministère chargé des Sports, 2021_[24]).

Netherlands: Combined lifestyle intervention

Since 2019, a combined lifestyle intervention has been included under the basic health insurance coverage in the Netherlands. It includes exercise on prescription for patients who have a body mass index \geq 25 kg/m2 and another risk factor (e.g. risk factors for cardiovascular disease, type-2 diabetes) or a body mass index \geq 30 kg/m2. General practitioners and specialists in primary health care refer patients to one of the qualifying combined lifestyle intervention programmes, which are provided by lifestyle coaches, dieticians, physiotherapists or exercise therapists. Participants receive diet and physical activity advice, as well as structured exercise classes, over a two-year period (RIVM, n.d._[25]).

Sweden: Prescribing of physical activity

Sweden has used the physical activity on prescription (PAP) intervention for 20 years, to address low levels of physical activity in the adult population (Onerup et al., 2019_[26]). As part of the European Commission-funded EUPAP programme, the intervention is now being transferred to nine other EU Member States (EUPAP.org, n.d._[27]).

At the centre of the intervention is person-centred individualised counselling through a written prescription. This prescription notes the recommended type and dose of physical activity, possible contraindications and a plan for follow-up. To ensure that the prescription responds to the health needs of the individual, a handbook is available to prescribers which details evidence-based recommendations by disease. During a follow-up meeting the prescription can be adjusted. The patient can be referred to structured exercise through a community-based network of activity organisers, such as nongovernmental organisations, public or private facilities, but this handled and paid for by the patient, outside the health care system.

An OECD review of the PAP programme commended its strong evidence base and ongoing research on effectiveness. However, the uptake of the programme is limited compared to the size of the potential eligible population, and varies widely by region (OECD, 2022_[28]).

Interventions in the sports sector

Sports facilities can play a major role in enabling and encouraging physical activity in the population (Box 4.6). Increasing public spending on recreational and sports services can increase the physical activity level for the population. OECD modelling estimates that, for Italy, an additional 1% investment could avoid more than 800 cases of cardiovascular disease annually, and it would be highly cost-effective (less than EUR 30 000 per DALY) as early as five years after the beginning of the intervention (Goryakin et al., 2019_[29]).

Availability of and access to sports facilities is an important drivers of physical activity: 82% of people who exercise or play sports regularly say that they have many opportunities to do so in their local area, compared to 66% of people who never exercise (European Commission, 2018_[30]). Opportunity is linked to socio-economic factors, as 79% of people who pay their bills without difficulty agree that they have sufficient opportunities in their area, but this falls to 59% among people who have difficulties paying bills most of the time. To ensure equitable access to sports facilities, such as sport pitches or gyms, they need to be available in the community, for people of all ages and abilities, at an accessible price.

Box 4.6. Programmes on physical activity in the sports sector

Europe: "Sports clubs for health" programme

In addition to providing the opportunity to engage in sports, sports clubs can also take an active role in encouraging physical activity. The "Sports clubs for health" (SCforH) programme was designed to help sports clubs deliver programmes with a stronger focus on health and to encourage health-related activities. Instead of focusing on competition, Sports Clubs for Health emphasise recreational sports and increasing physical activity through sports.

Promoting physical activity within a sports club can be done by introducing new exercise methods, improving facilities, or developing tailored programmes for a specific target group (e.g. elderly people, newcomers or women). However, rather than an independent initiative, the aim is to integrate the SCforH approach into all the club's activities. This includes restrictions on advertising of unhealthy food and drinks, health education, and coaches setting the right example with a healthy lifestyle.

Guidelines for the SCforH programmes have been prepared by a working group of Health-enhancing physical activity (HEPA) Europe and the Association for International Sport for All, supported by funding from the European Commission. They guide clubs through a Plan-Do-Check-Act process to develop their own SCforH initiative. They can be applied to any kind of sports club, regardless of the sports offered, size, whether it is voluntary or professional, or the age groups served (WHO, 2021[11]; Koski et al., 2017[31]).

Denmark: Get2Sport programme

The project Get2Sport under the Ministry of Immigration and Integration and the Sports Confederation of Denmark was started in 2005 with the aim of providing opportunities for children and young people in underprivileged areas to participate in sports, primarily football, in local clubs. The programme provides funding to hire employees for administrative task, to allow volunteers to focus on coaching and other sports-related functions. It can also provide support for other practical and resource challenges, such as transport to a match. In 2019, Get2Sport supported 55 associations in 43 vulnerable housing areas, located in 22 different municipalities (Danmarks Idrætsforbund, n.d._[32]).

Urban design, environment and transport policies

Physical activity is not just structured exercise and sport, but includes activities such as outdoor playing, recreational hiking and cycling to work. Urban design and the environment can facilitate these forms of physical activity by providing safe and pleasant spaces to move. Environmental policies to encourage physical activity can include regulation to improve road safety, urban planning requirements to increase parks, trails and other green spaces, and investments in dedicated cycling and walking lanes and other infrastructure.

One example is investing in public transport. Building new public transit options is estimated to increase the light to moderate physical activity of users by about 30 minutes per week, as people walk or cycle to transit stops (Xiao, Goryakin and Cecchini, 2019_[33]). OECD modelling has shown that, on a population level, this can prevent 121 000 cases of cardiovascular disease and 37 000 cases of diabetes over the next 30 years across 36 countries, and raise GDP by 0.004% (OECD, 2019_[20]). Transport policies can also focus on cycling (Box 4.7) and walking as active modes of transport.

Box 4.7. Programmes to encourage cycling

Luxembourg: Bicycle Summer

Vëlosummer (Bicycle Summer) is a co-operative initiative between the Ministry of Mobility and Public Works, the General Directorate of Tourism and several municipalities. Certain roads were closed to motorised vehicles in the summer of 2020, and six routes were signposted, creating 550 km of additional cycle routes for 30 days. Cameras and road sensors were used to estimate that 40 000 cyclists took part in this "soft mobility-promoting" initiative. As a result of the successful 2020 edition, the number of collaborating municipalities tripled and the number of routes on offer doubled, so that over 600 km of cycling opportunities in Luxembourg were provided in 2021. Bicycle summer 2021 is expected to have encouraged more participants and cycling perspectives for the next edition 2022 (Visit Luxembourg, 2021_[34]).

Germany: D-Netz cycle network

Originally started as a "D-Netz", the German cycle network (Radnetz Deutschland) is an integral part of the measures of the Federal Government's National cycling plan. In the network, Federal and state governments are committed to common standards and high-quality cycling tourism. The network, funded with EUR 45 million until 2023, consists of 12 long-distance cycle routes, the "German Unity Cycle Route" and the EuroVelo route "Iron Curtain Trail". This network allows people to plan and experience a bike trip on safe, comfortable, relaxing routes by combining several thematic bike routes connecting all the regions of Germany (WHO, 2021[11]).

Design guidelines can help local governments and developers to create spaces that enable and encourage physical activity. The IMPALA guidelines were developed in Europe to support the development and improvement of infrastructure for physical activity (see Box 4.8). In 2021, only five out of 27 EU Member States reported that they applied the IMPALA guidelines systematically (WHO, 2021_[11]). However, another 13 countries reported that they used similar national guidance or programmes.

Box 4.8. Urban design for physical activity

Europe: IMPALA guidelines

The Improving Infrastructures for Leisure-time Physical Activity in the Local Arena (IMPALA) guidelines were developed through a collaboration of scientists and policy makers from 12 EU Member States, with funding from the European Commission. They consider three types of infrastructure: sports facilities, leisure time infrastructure (e.g. playgrounds, bike paths) and urban "green" and "blue" spaces (e.g. forests, beaches).

The guidelines identify ways in which infrastructure for leisure-time physical activity can be assessed and improved with a focus on social equity, inter-sectoral collaboration and participation. They are set across five key areas: policy making, planning, building, financing, and management. For example, for planning the guidelines provide advice on how to plan specific actions together with all relevant groups and stakeholders. Under financing, an overview is provided with the impact of different investor models, subsidies and funding procedures on equity issues as well as on collaboration between different policy sectors and levels. In Italy, the guidelines are included in general ministerial information kits and infographics (WHO, 2021_[11]; IMPALA, 2011_[35]).

Croatia: Healthy Living programme

The Healthy Living programme, managed by the Croatian Institute of Public Health, aims to improve the health of the population by reducing the negative impact of behavioural, biomedical and sociomedical risk factors and creating an environment in which all persons in Croatia are provided with the highest level of health and quality of life. One of the initiatives under the programme is the development of trails and parks in all 21 counties, to encourage physical activity. The design and equipment for these "exemplary parks" was created by a multidisciplinary collaboration among eight schools of the University of Zagreb (School of Medicine, School of Education and Rehabilitation Sciences, School of Kinesiology, School of Architecture, School of Design, School of Agriculture, School of Engineering and the Arts Academy). The project has been chosen for the Rector's award for socially useful work (Zivjeti Zdravo, 2021_[36]).

Information and communication policies

The first action of the WHO *Global action plan on physical activity 2018-30* (WHO, 2018_[37]) is to implement communication campaigns to increase awareness, knowledge and understanding of, and appreciation for, the multiple health benefits of regular physical activity. However, the messaging should not be limited to the health benefits, but also highlight the social, economic, and environmental co-benefits. Moreover, messaging should be inclusive, with images tailored to the diversity of communities (WHO, 2021_[38]).

In 2021, 23 out of 27 EU Member States reported to have clearly formulated national campaigns for education and public awareness about physical activity (WHO, 2021_[11]). While television, radio and newspapers remain commonly used media, 21 countries also reported using social media. However, while public awareness campaigns are an important part of any physical activity strategy, there are other information policies that can help promote physical activity, such as apps to locate resources (Box 4.9).

Box 4.9. Information and communication policies for physical activity

Spain: Localiza Salud

Localiza Salud is an online application that provides information about the availability of resources and activities in municipalities that contribute to health and well-being. All municipalities are invited to participate and map their resource to improve the lifestyles of their population. The strategy is used by 360 local entities, and more than 17 000 health-promoting resources have been published in the Localiza Salud application (Ministry of Health, 2021_[39]).

Ireland: Campaigns in the context of COVID-19

During the COVID-19 pandemic, ongoing Healthy Ireland public information campaigns were re-purposed under the "In this Together" and "Keep Well" campaigns. These campaigns highlighted physical activity and individual sports that could be maintained in the context of necessary COVID-19 restrictions (e.g. exercise at home, online classes, walking, running, cycling, outdoor swimming if living near the sea/lakes). In late 2021, Sport Ireland and Healthy Ireland worked in partnership on the "Let's Get Back" campaign, which encouraged a return to organised sport following the successful national vaccination campaign.

A comprehensive, well-funded package of policies is needed to get people moving

While all policies have their own benefits, it is unlikely that any single policy will have a major impact on physical activity levels in the population. Physical activity is a complex behaviour, which is influenced by many different factors, including personal variables such as motivation and physical ability; environmental factors such as schools, worksites, and other places where people spend most of their time; community characteristics determining the opportunity to exercise, as well as social factors such as peer pressure and public information (Bauman et al., 2012_[40]). To increase physical activity, a comprehensive package of policies is needed to target all of these factors at the same time.

Previous OECD modelling work has shown how a physical activity policy package including interventions such as prescribing physical activity, investing in active transport and school-based programmes can lead to significant health gains and savings in health care expenditure. Such a package of policies aimed at increasing physical activity, implemented in 36 countries, would prevent 38 000 NCDs per year and save around EUR 14 billion in health cost by 2050 – equivalent to the total annual health care expenditure of Greece. Moreover, for every EUR 1 invested in a physical activity policy package, EUR 1.7 are returned in economic benefits (OECD, 2019_[20]).

As with any public health strategy, it is crucial to ensure that the policy package has both financial and political support. Current funding for physical activity is often insufficient, short term, narrow in scope, and focussed on pilot and demonstration projects instead of strengthening a supportive system. Policy makers should set up sustainable and long-term funding (Box 4.10) (WHO, 2021_[38]).

Box 4.10. Financing physical activity programmes

Germany: Preventive Health Care Act

The Preventive Health Care Act (Präventionsgesetz) was adopted in 2015 and aims to improve health promotion and prevention in Germany. The adoption of the law needs to be seen in the context of a federal health insurance system that relies heavily on statutory health insurances, which cover the costs of a broad range of health care services for large parts of the population. From an international perspective, the German health care system has traditionally had a strong focus on curative aspects while the role of prevention has been rather minor. Additionally, there is a high degree of governmental oversight of all aspects of the system.

Against this backdrop, the act has strengthened the role of prevention in the German health care system, including physical activity promotion. Firstly, new structures and institutions were created to improve the co-operation between important stakeholders, most importantly the National Preventive Conference (Nationale Präventionskonferenz). Secondly, a new mandatory Prevention Guideline (Leitfaden Prävention) for the German statutory health insurances defines physical activity promotion as an important action area for prevention measures. Statutory health insurances are obliged to invest at least EUR 7 annually per insured person in health promotion and prevention, resulting in a total of approximately EUR 500 million Out of this, at least EUR 300 million need to be invested in settings such as childcare, schools, communities, workplaces and nursing care. Thanks to the Preventive Health Care Act, total investment for health promotion and prevention has increased by around 40%, from EUR 1.3 billion in 2012 to EUR 1.8 EURO in 2017.

Overall, the Preventive Health Care Act is a comprehensive strategy that creates new opportunities for physical activity promotion, with substantial funds being allocated to this field. This includes funding for scientifically evaluated projects led or supported by researchers. It has been reported that the creation of new prevention structures is considered as very positive, even though co-operation between organisations could still be improved (e.g. with regards to a patchwork of projects which is yet to turn into a comprehensive network for prevention).

Source: Bundeszentrale für gesundheitliche Aufklärung (2021[41]), Präventionsgesetz, <u>https://leitbegriffe.bzga.de/alphabetisches-verzeichnis/praeventionsgesetz/</u>.

Moreover, while multicomponent, multilevel strategies are notoriously difficult to study, a comprehensive evaluation should be conducted to help understand whether the strategy works, what other impact it has, its value relative to the resources required to deliver it, how it interacts with the context in which it is implemented, and how it contributes to system change (Skivington et al., 2021_[42]). An efficient data management and data linkage system to collect timely and accurate data can support evulation studies (Box 4.11).

Box 4.11. Collecting continuous data on physical activity

Italy: PASSI

PASSI (Progressi delle Aziende Sanitarie per la Salute in Italia – Progress by local health units towards a healthier Italy) is a public health surveillance study based on continuous collection of information on lifestyles and behavioural risk factors related to non-communicable diseases among the Italian adult population. It was started in 2007 and is used to evaluate public health policy, such as the National Prevention Plan. Among other risk factors, PASSI collects information on both physical activity levels and active mobility (the use of cycling or walking to go to work, school or other usual trips).

Rather than one annual cross-sectional survey, the PASSI survey is based on a monthly random sample of people aged 18-69 years, stratified by sex and age groups, from each local health unit, to allow continuous monitoring. It is designed in such a way that the monthly samples can be used to calculate accurate annual estimates. Each year the national sample consists of about 35 000 interviews.

Source: EpiCentro (2021[43]), PASSI, https://www.epicentro.iss.it/passi/.

The task at hand is clear: make physical activity a public health priority to improve health and reduce the burden of non-communicable diseases. However, to achieve such a goal, much work remains. Rather than falling under strategies for other risk factors, physical inactivity should be a separate and equal concern, and should be recognised as a unique specialty. A strong policy framework, consistent investment in physical activity programs and infrastructure, multi-sectoral support, high population reach, and good surveillance should characterise each future action (Pratt et al., 2015_[44]). Adaptation of the evidence-based strategies to community need, culture, and context is critical. An isolated public health strategy for physical activity is unlikely to be successful as many of the necessary actions occur in sectors other than public health and because sustained funding is nearly impossible without the broader political support associated with strong partners.

References

Abu-Omar, K., P. Gelius and S. Messing (2020), "Physical activity promotion in the age of climate change", <i>F1000Research</i> , Vol. 9, <u>https://doi.org/10.12688/F1000RESEARCH.23764.2</u> .	[9]
AGION (2021), Oproep naschools openstellen van sport- en bewegingsinfrastructuur [call for after-school opening of sport and physical activity infrastructure], https://www.agion.be/oproep-naschools-openstellen-van-sport-en-bewegingsinfrastructuur (accessed on 12 October 2021).	[19]
Bauman, A. et al. (2012), "Correlates of physical activity: why are some people physically active and others not?", <i>The Lancet</i> , Vol. 380/9838, pp. 258-271, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(12)60735-1</u> .	[40]
Black, N. et al. (2019), "The effect of school sports facilities on physical activity, health and socioeconomic status in adulthood", <i>Social Science & Medicine</i> , Vol. 220, pp. 120-128, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2018.10.025 .	[15]
Bundeszentrale für gesundheitliche Aufklärung (2021), <i>Präventionsgesetz</i> , <u>https://leitbegriffe.bzga.de/alphabetisches-verzeichnis/praeventionsgesetz/</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[41]
Chair UP (2020), Chair UP, https://www.chairup.bg/en/home-en/.	[23]
Chastin, S. et al. (2021), "Effects of Regular Physical Activity on the Immune System, Vaccination and Risk of Community-Acquired Infectious Disease in the General Population: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis", <i>Sports Medicine</i> , Vol. 51/8, pp. 1673-1686, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s40279-021-01466-1</u> .	[4]
Chu, A. et al. (2016), "A systematic review and meta-analysis of workplace intervention strategies to reduce sedentary time in white-collar workers", <i>Obesity Reviews</i> , Vol. 17/5, pp. 467-481, <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/OBR.12388</u> .	[21]
Danmarks Idrætsforbund (n.d.), <i>About DIF get2sport</i> , <u>https://www.dif.dk/samfundsansvar/dif-get2sport/om</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[32]
Ding, D. et al. (2017), <i>The economic burden of physical inactivity: A systematic review and critical appraisal</i> , BMJ Publishing Group, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2016-097385</u> .	[1]
Dohle, S. and B. Wansink (2013), "Fit in 50 years: participation in high school sports best predicts one's physical activity after Age 70", <i>BMC Public Health</i> , Vol. 13/1, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-1100</u> .	[14]
EpiCentro (2021), PASSI, https://www.epicentro.iss.it/passi/.	[43]
EUPAP.org (n.d.), <i>EUPAP leaflet</i> , <u>https://www.eupap.org/storage/app/media/EUPAP_skrajute_atvartas.pdf</u> (accessed on 4 February 2021).	[27]
European Commission (2018), <i>Special Eurobarometer</i> 472: <i>Sport and physical activity</i> , <u>https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2164</u> (accessed on 13 October 2021).	[30]

80	
----	--

European Union (2020), <i>Mapping study on measuring the economic impact of COVID-19 on the sport sector in the EU</i> , <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/76b94a58-2f3c-11eb-b27b-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-175886302</u> (accessed on 15 October 2021).	[7]
Fit Sport Austria (2016), <i>Kinder gesund bewegen 2.0</i> , <u>https://www.fitsportaustria.at/main.asp?VID=1&kat1=115&kat2=745&scsqs=1</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[17]
Goryakin, Y. et al. (2019), "Promoting sport and physical activity in Italy: a cost-effectiveness analysis of seven innovative public health policies", <i>Ann Ig</i> , Vol. 31, pp. 614-625, https://doi.org/10.7416/ai.2019.2321 .	[29]
IMPALA (2011), Improving Infrastructures for Leisure-Time Physical Activity in the Local Arena.	[35]
Jordan, R., P. Adab and K. Cheng (2020), "Covid-19: risk factors for severe disease and death", <i>BMJ</i> , Vol. 368, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJ.M1198</u> .	[3]
Koski, P. et al. (2017), Sports Club for Health (SCforH) - updated guidelines for health-enhancing sports activities in a club setting.	[31]
Kovacs, V. et al. (2018), "Weight Status of 7-Year-Old Hungarian Children between 2010 and 2016 Using Different Classifications (COSI Hungary)", <i>Obesity Facts</i> , Vol. 11/3, pp. 195-205, <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000487327</u> .	[16]
Ministère chargé des Sports (2021), <i>Les Maisons Sport-Santé - Un outil de santé publique</i> , <u>https://www.sports.gouv.fr/IMG/pdf/dp_maisons_sport_sante2021-accessible-2.pdf</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[24]
Ministry of Health, C. (2021), <i>Local Implementation of the Health Promotion and Prevention</i> <i>Strategy in the SNS</i> , <u>https://www.mscbs.gob.es/profesionales/saludPublica/prevPromocion/Estrategia/Implementa</u> <u>cion_Local.htm</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[39]
Ministry of Transport and Communications (2018), <i>Programme and government resolution to promote walking and cycling</i> , <u>https://www.lvm.fi/en/-/programme-and-government-resolution-to-promote-walking-and-cycling-970101</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[10]
Mooses, K. et al. (2021), "Developing a comprehensive school-based physical activity program with flexible design – from pilot to national program", <i>BMC Public Health 2021 21:1</i> , Vol. 21/1, pp. 1-14, <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/S12889-020-10111-X</u> .	[18]
National Transport Authority (n.d.), <i>Smarter Travel</i> , <u>https://www.nationaltransport.ie/smarter-</u> <u>travel-workplaces/</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[22]
Norris, E. et al. (2019), "Physically active lessons in schools and their impact on physical activity, educational, health and cognition outcomes: a systematic review and meta-analysis", <i>British Journal of Sports Medicine</i> , Vol. 54/14, pp. 826-838, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-100502</u> .	[13]
OECD (2022), <i>Healthy Eating and Active Lifestyles: Best Practices in Public Health</i> , OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/40f65568-en</u> .	[28]

OECD (2021), "Tackling the mental health impact of the COVID-19 crisis: An integrated, whole- of-society response", OECD Policy Responses to Coronavirus (COVID-19), OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/0ccafa0b-en</u> .	[5]
OECD (2019), "OECD Future of Education 2030: Making Physical Education Dynamic and Inclusive for 2030", <i>International Curriculum Analysis</i> , OECD, Paris, <u>https://www.oecd.org/education/2030-</u> <u>project/contact/oecd_future_of_education_2030_making_physical_dynamic_and_inclusive_fo_r_2030.pdf</u> .	[12]
OECD (2019), <i>The Heavy Burden of Obesity: The Economics of Prevention</i> , OECD Health Policy Studies, OECD Publishing, Paris, <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/67450d67-en</u> .	[20]
OECD (2017), "Healthy people, healthy planet", OECD, Paris, http://www.oecd.org/health/healthy-people-healthy-planet.htm.	[8]
Onerup, A. et al. (2019), <i>Physical activity on prescription in accordance with the Swedish model increases physical activity: A systematic review</i> , BMJ Publishing Group, https://doi.org/10.1136/bjsports-2018-099598 .	[26]
Pratt, M. et al. (2015), "Can Population Levels of Physical Activity Be Increased? Global Evidence and Experience", <i>Progress in Cardiovascular Diseases</i> , Vol. 57/4, pp. 356-367, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pcad.2014.09.002</u> .	[44]
RIVM (n.d.), <i>Gecombineerde leefstijlinterventie</i> , <u>https://www.loketgezondleven.nl/zorgstelsel/gecombineerde-leefstijlinterventie</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[25]
Sallis, R. et al. (2021), "Physical inactivity is associated with a higher risk for severe COVID-19 outcomes: a study in 48 440 adult patients", <i>British Journal of Sports Medicine</i> , Vol. 0, pp. 1- 8, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/BJSPORTS-2021-104080</u> .	[2]
Skivington, K. et al. (2021), "A new framework for developing and evaluating complex interventions: update of Medical Research Council guidance", <i>BMJ</i> , Vol. 374, p. n2061, <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/BMJ.N2061</u> .	[42]
Visit Luxembourg (2021), <i>Vëlosummer 2021</i> , <u>https://www.visitluxembourg.com/en/100thingstodo/outdoors-passion/velosummer</u> (accessed on 28 October 2021).	[34]
WHO (2021), 2021 physical activity factsheets for the European Union Member States in the WHO European Region, World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/345335</u> .	[11]
WHO (2021), <i>Fair Play: Building a strong physical activity system for more active people</i> , World Health Organization, <u>https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/346169</u> .	[38]
WHO (2019), <i>Motion for your mind: Physical activity for mental health promotion, protection and care</i> , <u>https://www.euro.who.int/data/assets/pdf_file/0018/403182/WHO-Motion-for-your-mind-ENG.pdf</u> (accessed on 15 October 2021).	[6]
WHO (2018), <i>Global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030</i> , World Health Organization, https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/272722.	[37]

- Xiao, C., Y. Goryakin and M. Cecchini (2019), "Physical Activity Levels and New Public Transit: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis", *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, Vol. 56/3, pp. 464-473, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amepre.2018.10.022</u>.
- Zivjeti Zdravo (2021), *Hodanjem do zdravlja*, <u>https://zivjetizdravo.eu/2021/05/07/prigodno-</u> predstavljanje-uredenih-hodackih-staza-i-parkova-zivjeti-zdravo-u-svim-zupanijama-uhrvatskoj/. [36]

Glossary

Active is doing at least the equivalent of 150 minutes to 300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity a week. This level meets the WHO guidelines for adults.

Health-enhancing physical activity (HEPA) is any form of physical activity that benefits health and functional capacity without undue harm or risk.

Highly active is doing the equivalent of more than 300 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity a week. This level exceeds the WHO guidelines for adults.

Inactive is not getting any moderate- or vigorous intensity physical activity beyond basic movement from daily life activities.

Insufficiently active is doing less than the equivalent of 150 minutes of moderate-intensity physical activity a week. This level is less than the WHO guidelines for adults.

Metabolic equivalent of task (MET) is a measure to reflect the intensity of physical activities, and allows comparison between them. One MET is the energy equivalent expended per unit of time by an individual while seated at rest. More intense activities, which cost more energy expenditure than being seated at rest, are attributed higher METs:

Light-intensity physical activity (LPA) is between 1.5 and less than 3 METs. This includes slow walking, bathing, or other incidental activities that do not result in a substantial increase in heart rate or breathing rate.

Moderate-intensity physical activity (MPA) is between 3 and less than 6 METs. This includes activities such as gardening, dancing or brisk walking.

Vigorous-intensity physical activity (VPA) is 6 or more METs. This includes activities such as fast swimming or running.

MET-minutes is a useful tool for tracking physical activity in more detail than by simply using the number of minutes. This is particularly helpful if people do different activities at different levels of intensity over the course of the week. It is calculated by the intensity of activity (in MET) multiplied by the duration of activity (in minutes). For instance, running 10 km per hour (6 minutes per km) is roughly equivalent with a value of 10 METs. If someone ran for 30 minutes at this pace, then they would do 10 x 30 = 300 MET-minutes.

Sedentary behaviour is any behaviour during waking hours characterised by a low level of energy expenditure (i.e. 1.5 METs or lower) while sitting, reclining or lying.

Step Up! Tackling the Burden of Insufficient Physical Activity in Europe

This report calls on policy makers to step up the policy response to increase physical activity. Being physically active is one of the most important things people can do to improve their physical and mental health. It helps prevent a range of non-communicable diseases such as cardiovascular disease and cancer, and improves mental health and cognitive functioning, among other benefits. Nevertheless, too many Europeans are physically inactive. One in three European adults do not meet the WHO physical activity guidelines, and almost half never exercise or play sport. The report describes patterns and trends of insufficient physical activity in Europe. It reviews the detrimental impact that current physical inactivity levels have on population health and health expenditure. The report provides policy makers with options to address insufficient physical activity, drawing on case studies from across Europe.



This document was produced with the financial assistance of the European Union. The views expressed herein can in no way be taken to reflect the official opinion of the European Union.



PRINT ISBN 978-92-64-78810-7 PDF ISBN 978-92-64-41030-5

